
School Board of Clay County
Teacher Inservice Center, 2233 Village Square Parkway, Fleming Island, FL

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Date: Jan 08 2026 (6:00 p.m.)

Student Showcase (Oakleaf Village Elementary)

Invocation (Dr. Robert Ball, Oakleaf Baptist Church)

Pledge of Allegiance

Call to Order

Recognitions and Awards

1. Winners of the Len Mattiace Foundation contest, "Stop the Bullying"

2. Recognize Schools Earning the Florida Department of Education's Purple Star School of Distinction

3. Recognition of Academic Team Champions

4. Recognition of 2025-2026 School Related Employee of the Year and Teacher of the Year Finalists

Presenters

School Showcase (Oakleaf Village Elementary, Principal Jason Martin)

Presentations from the Audience (Public Comment on Specific Agenda Items)

Discussion Agenda

Human Resources

5. D1 - Human Resources Special Action A

6. D2 - Human Resources Special Action B

Consent Agenda

Superintendent

7. C1 - Minutes of School Board Workshop on December 1, 2025; Student Hearings and Regular Meeting on December
11, 2025

2025 Dec 1 Workshop.pdf

Human Resources

8. C2 - Personnel Consent Agenda

Page 1 of 268

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55219
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55190
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55185
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55193
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55201
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55202
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55164
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55164
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2025-dec-1-workshop.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55200


Personnel Consent Agenda_01_08_2026.pdf

Instruction-Academic Services

9. C3 - Elementary Student Out of State Travel

Elem. Out State Travel.pdf

Instruction-Instructional Resources

10. C4 - Request for Review or Reconsideration of Library Materials Appeals

January 2026 Appeals_Request for Review or Reconsideration of Library Materials.pdf

Instruction-K-12 Academic

11. C5 - K-12 Academic Services Out of State and Overnight Student Travel

January 2026 Student Travel.pdf

Business Affairs

12. C6 - Proposed Allocation Changes for 2025-2026

01.08.26 - 25-26 Allocation Summary - 2025-26.pdf

Business Affairs-Accounting

13. C7 - Monthly Financial Reports for November, 2025

November 2025 Property Report.pdf

Financial Board Report NOV 2025 Final.pdf

Nov 2025 Board Item$50,000 - $100,000 Contracts Signed by Superintendent.pdf

14. C8 - BUDGET AMENDMENT REPORT FOR November 30, 2025

November 2025 Budget Amendment Stmt.pdf

Business Affairs-Internal Accounts

15. C9 - Request for Acceptance of the FY2024-2025 School Internal Accounts Audit

Final Clay County School Board - Internal Accounts.pdf

Final SAS114 Clay County School Board - Internal Accounts.pdf

Business Affairs-Property

16. C10 - Deletion of Certain Items Report - December, 2025

DELETION ANALYSIS DEC. 2025- 2026 - Sheet1.pdf

Monthly Deletion Report - December 2025.pdf

Business Affairs-Purchasing

17. C11 - BID Renewal

Operations

18. C12 - Brightly Contract Agreement - Facility Asset Management Software

Brightly Contract 1.8.26 (2).pdf

Page 2 of 268

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/personnel-consent-agenda_01_08_2026.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55196
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/elem-out-state-travel.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55186
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/january-2026-appeals_request-for-review-or-reconsideration-of-library-materials.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55218
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/january-2026-student-travel.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55199
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/010826-25-26-allocation-summary-2025-26.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55208
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/november-2025-property-report.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/financial-board-report-nov-2025-final.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/nov-2025-board-item50000-100000-contracts-signed-by-superintendent.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55216
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/november-2025-budget-amendment-stmt.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55205
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/final-clay-county-school-board-internal-accounts.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/final-sas114-clay-county-school-board-internal-accounts.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55195
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/deletion-analysis-dec-2025-2026-sheet1.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/monthly-deletion-report-december-2025.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55206
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55220
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/brightly-contract-1826-2.pdf


Operations-Facilities

19. C13 - Substantial and Final Completion of Lake Asbury Junior High School Classroom Addition

C-3 23-24 Asbury Jr. HS Final Completion.pdf

C-3 23-24 Lake Asbury Jr. HS Substantial Completion.pdf

20. C14 - Prequalification of Contractors

Table for Board Backup Contractor Prequal, 1.8.26

21. C15 - Fleming Island High School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement Contract Award

22. C16 - Ridgeview High School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement Contract Award

23. C17 - Oakleaf High School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement Contract Award

24. C18 - Shadowlawn Elementary School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement Contract Award

25. C19 - Doctors Inlet Elementary School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement Contract Award

26. C20 - Parking Lot Renovation/Redesign at Middleburg High School Contract Award

12082025-MHS parking lot renovation-redesign.pdf

Adoption of Consent Agenda

Presentations from the Audience (Public Comment on Non-Specific Agenda Items)

CCEA Update  (Victoria Kidwell)

CESPA Update  (Lonnie Roberts)

Superintendent's Update and Presentations

School Board Attorney Remarks

School Board Member Remarks

Adjournment

Page 3 of 268

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55207
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/c-3-23-24-asbury-jr-hs-final-completion.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/c-3-23-24-lake-asbury-jr-hs-substantial-completion.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55210
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/table-for-board-backup-contractor-prequal-1826.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55211
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55212
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55213
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55214
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55215
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55217
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/12082025-mhs-parking-lot-renovation-redesign.pdf


School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
Winners of the Len Mattiace Foundation contest, "Stop the Bullying"

Description
This contest was open to all students in grades 6 - 8 enrolled in Clay County School District. Students submitted a project that
demonstrated kindness, compassion, and/or inclusion. Submissions of projects may include a written paper, video, song, or
service project.

Gap Analysis
n/a

Previous Outcomes
n/a

Expected Outcomes
n/a

Strategic Plan Goal
n/a

Recommendation
Recognize winners.

Contact
Kellie Guilfoyle, Director of Climate and Culture

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 4 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
Recognize Schools Earning the Florida Department of Education's Purple Star School of Distinction

Description
the Purple Star School of Distinction Designation, established by the Florida Legislature (House Bill 429), recognizes schools
that support the unique needs of military families.  Military families are supported through the implementation of activities such
as:

Highlighting annual military recognition events-
Publicizing support for military students and families-
Providing opportunities for active-duty parents to volunteer at the school-
Participating in one or more service projects that connect the school with the military community-

The following schools earning this distinction will maintain their designation as a Purple Star School of Distinction for three (3)
school years.

Clay Charter Academy-
Fleming Island Elementary School-
Fleming Island High School-
Green Cove Springs Junior High School-
Ridgeview High School-
Thunderbolt Elementary School-

Gap Analysis

Previous Outcomes

Expected Outcomes

Strategic Plan Goal

Recommendation
Recognition only.

Contact
Bonnie O'Nora, Board Assistant, bonnie.onora@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 5 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
Recognition of Academic Team Champions

Description
Recognition of County Academic Team participants and Junior High, Junior Varsity, and Varsity Academic Teams that earned
the county championship.
Junior High School Champion - Wilkinson Junior High - Coach Steven Doughty

Anthony Alvarez-
Gracie Bodway-
Ryael Joshua Centeno-
Reese Cohen-
Rose-Angeni Cross-
Elia Dugger-

High School Junior Varsity Champion - Clay High - Coach Vicki Miller
Sophia Allen-
Brooklyn Jackson-
MaKayla Martinez-
Christian Miller-
Henry Porter-
Aiden Schaeffer-

High School Varsity Champion - Fleming Island High - Coach Brian Gartner
Shayla Abbas-
Lincoln Bailey-
Ben Bangkrasor-
Danil Frakt-
Evan Hanner-
Sophia Jiang-
Kennedy Keuning-
Alex Kirk-
Roman Kolosovskiy-

Gap Analysis

Previous Outcomes

Expected Outcomes

Strategic Plan Goal

Recommendation
Recognition only.

Contact
Bonnie O'Nora, Board Assistant, bonnie.onora@myoneclay.net

Page 6 of 268

DRAFT



Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 7 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
Recognition of 2025-2026 School Related Employee of the Year and Teacher of the Year Finalists

Description
Recognizing the top ten finalists for School Related Employee of the Year and Teacher of the Year

Gap Analysis

Previous Outcomes

Expected Outcomes
Recognizing the top ten semi-finalists for School Related Employee of the Year and Teacher of the Year

Strategic Plan Goal

Recommendation
Recognition only.

Contact
Kevin Leary, Supervisor of Personnel Services Human Resources, kevin.leary@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 8 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
D1 - Human Resources Special Action A

Description
Florida Statutes (F.S. 1012.22(1)(9f), State Board Rules and Clay County School Board Policies require Board notification
and/or action regarding decisions and recommendations of the Superintendent related to Personnel matters.  

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
N/A

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2:  Enact a highly effective recruitment and professional development plan along with opportunities for growth and career
development to ensure all students have access to a world class education to become life-long learners for success in a global and
competitive workplace and in acquiring applicable life skills.
Strategy 2.1.1 Develop strategic partnerships with organizations and universities to source new talent for a diverse workforce that
is effective and highly-qualified for non-instructional, instructional, and administrative positions throughout CCDS.
Strategy 2.1.3 Expand involvement in community-sponsored career fairs, providing the opportunity to recruit a diverse
population to the multiple career paths within CCDS.
Strategy 2.1.4 Continue to streamline the application and onboarding process to successfully engage and hire quality applicants.
Strategy 2.1.5 Collaborate to strengthen CCDS’ branding and marketing to increase the awareness and presence of career
opportunities.

Recommendation
Approve the action as presented.

Contact
Brenda G. Troutman, Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources  (904) 336 6701   Brenda.Troutman@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 9 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
D2 - Human Resources Special Action B

Description
Florida Statutes (F.S. 1012.22(1)(9f), State Board Rules and Clay County School Board Policies require Board notification
and/or action regarding decisions and recommendations of the Superintendent related to Personnel matters.  

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
N/A

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2:  Enact a highly effective recruitment and professional development plan along with opportunities for growth and career
development to ensure all students have access to a world class education to become life-long learners for success in a global and
competitive workplace and in acquiring applicable life skills.
Strategy 2.1.1 Develop strategic partnerships with organizations and universities to source new talent for a diverse workforce that
is effective and highly-qualified for non-instructional, instructional, and administrative positions throughout CCDS.
Strategy 2.1.3 Expand involvement in community-sponsored career fairs, providing the opportunity to recruit a diverse
population to the multiple career paths within CCDS.
Strategy 2.1.4 Continue to streamline the application and onboarding process to successfully engage and hire quality applicants.
Strategy 2.1.5 Collaborate to strengthen CCDS’ branding and marketing to increase the awareness and presence of career
opportunities.

Recommendation
Approve the action as presented.

Contact
Brenda G. Troutman, Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources  (904) 336 6701   Brenda.Troutman@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 10 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C1 - Minutes of School Board Workshop on December 1, 2025; Student Hearings and Regular Meeting on December 11, 2025

Description
Florida Statute 1001.42(1) requires the superintendent, as secretary, to keep such minutes and records as are necessary to set
forth clearly all actions and proceedings of the school board.  The minutes of each meeting shall be reviewed, corrected if
necessary, and approved at the next regular meeting; provided that this action may be taken at an intervening special meeting if
the board desires.

Gap Analysis

Previous Outcomes

Expected Outcomes

Strategic Plan Goal

Recommendation
Approve minutes as submitted.

Contact
David S. Broskie, Superintendent of Schools, david.broskie@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

2025 Dec 1 Workshop.pdf

Page 11 of 268

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2025-dec-1-workshop.pdf


Date: Dec 01 2025 (9:00 a.m.)

School Board of Clay County

December 1, 2025 - School Board Workshop

Invocation  (Ashley Gilhousen)

Call to Order  (Present: Erin Skipper, District 1; Robert Alvero, District 2; Beth Clark, District 3, Michele Hanson, District 4; Ashley
Gilhousen, District 5; and Superintendent David S. Broskie)

Workshop Items

1. Discussion of Board Member Committee Assignments

Minutes:

Mrs. Skipper reminded board members to forward her their requests for graduation schools as well as any Board Member Committee
assignment requests or ideas for additional recommended committees.

2. Review Draft Agenda for Regular School Board Meeting on December 11, 2025

December-11-2025-regular-school-board-meeting_agenda_packet.pdf

Minutes:

Recognitions:

Athletics Check Presentation to American Cancer Society - no discussion;
Recognize 2024 Founders' Week Art Contest Winners - no discussion;
Athletic Recognitions - no discussion;
Recognition of the 2025-2026 Clay County Assistant Principal of the Year - no discussion;
Recognition of 2025-2026 School-Related Employee of the Year and Teacher of the Year Semi-finalists - no discussion;
Recognition of Middleburg Elementary for consideration as a 2026 Exceeding Expectations "Rising Star" - no discussion;
Recognition of Board Member Hanson for Earning Certified Board Member Distinction - no discussion;

Discussion Agenda:

D1 Public Hearing to Approve as Advertised Revisions to School Board Policies 1140; 1140.01; 3140; 3140.01; 4140; 4140.01
- no discussion
D2 Human Resources Special Action A - no discussion;
D3 Human Resources Special Action B - no discussion; 
D4 Public Hearing to Approve as Advertised Modifications to the 2025-2026 Student Progression Plan - no discussion;

Consent Agenda:

C1 Minutes of School Board Workshop on October 28, 2025; Student Hearings and Regular Meeting on November 6, 2025 -
no discussion;
C2 Controlled Open Enrollment (COE) Plan for the 2026-2027 School Year - no discussion;
C3 Personnel Consent Agenda - no discussion;
C4 Elementary Student Out of State Travel - no discussion;
C5 School Affiliation Agreement between Baptist Health and The School Board of Clay County, Florida; Department of Career
and Technical Education - no discussion;
C6 K-12 Academic Services Out of State and Overnight Student Travel - no discussion;
C7 Addition of a component to the Professional Learning Catalog to provide additional professional learning opportunities for
Deans - Mrs. Hanson advised that teachers have expressed a wish for professional learning to be differentiated by master
teachers, experienced teachers, and beginning teachers. She suggested a format in which master teachers can discuss what
is working and facilitate and support newer teachers. Heather Teto, Chief of Elementary Education, advised that teachers have
been identified who are model teachers that support facilitation. There are also specialists in areas and structures within the

Page 12 of 268

DRAFT



professional learning communities that provide the autonomy to select, guide, and support as requested by the schools. Mrs.
Hanson wants to ensure learning opportunities are inspiring and relevant. Kelly Watt, Chief of Staff, advised that there are
teacher leaders within the collaboratives. Treasure Pickett, Chief of Secondary Education, noted differentiation within some of
the professional development offerings.
C8 2024-2026 School Health Plan - no discussion;
C9 Proposed Allocation Changes for 2025-2026 - no discussion;
C10 Monthly Financial Reports for October, 2025 - no discussion;
C11 Budget Amendment Report for October 31, 2025 - no discussion;
C12 Deletion of Certain Items Report - November 2025 - no discussion;
C13 Contract Award for Uniform Rental Cintas Omnia Master Agreement #001299 - no discussion;
C14 Board Approval to Apply for Safe Schools Canine Grant - no discussion;
C15 Schematic/Preliminary/Final (Phase I, II, & III) Plans and Specifications for RideOut Elementary School Fire Alarm
Repair/Replacement - no discussion;
C16 Change Order #2 (Direct Purchasing) for RideOut Elementary School Classroom Addition - no discussion;
C17 Substantial Completion of Lakeside Elementary School Kitchen/Cafeteria Renovation - no discussion;
C18 County-Wide Professional Civil Engineering Services Contract Award - no discussion;
C19 Change Order #8 (Direct Purchasing) for Lakeside Elementary School Kitchen Renovation - no discussion;
C20 Prequalification of Contractors - no discussion;
C21 Change Order #3 (Direct Purchasing) for Oakleaf Junior High School Classroom Addition - no discussion;
C22 Clay County Utility Authority Developer Agreement for the Fire Main Connection at Ridgeview Elementary School - no
discussion.

Questions from the Audience  (None)

Superintendent Comments  (None)

School Board Attorney Comments  (None)

School Board Comments

3. School Board Member Comments

Minutes:

Mrs. Hanson discussed a possible vision for the Student Code of Conduct that would provide a one-page review, aged
appropriately for each student's family, with key and important elements, requiring a parent's electronic signature. She suggested a
copy of the document be provided to each board member and that the board comes prepared to discuss topics at the next workshop.
She would like to discuss the bullying policy and ensure that universal procedures across the district are included and that families are
held to a high level of expectation. She would also like to review the community standards of the Library/Media policy at the workshop
held in January. Review of the attendance policy and truancy was also proposed as well as a review of homework and grading
procedures. It was decided to review polices re bullying, homework, and grading at the January workshop and then decide which
topics to undertake at subsequent workshops and consider the need to add any additional workshops. Mrs. Gilhousen recommended
including Legal's involvement to ensure statutes are followed, and Climate and Culture will take the lead as they oversee this
document. 

Mrs. Gilhousen hoped everyone enjoyed a happy Thanksgiving.

Mrs. Clark met with the PFA at Tynes Elementary re crossing guards to develop ideas on how to better serve that area, determine
standards, and define what is permitted.

Mrs. Skipper noted the need for crossing guards to be hired.

Mrs. Hanson proposed some items for inclusion in the Board Newsletter, scheduled to be distributed in December. She advised there
is a lot of public misconception about charter schools and the funding required by law for those schools. She suggested a section
entitled "myth vs fact" to include information re how the state law directs the funding of charter schools. Current items being
addressed in workshops may also be added to the newsletter as well as new laws re scholarships. Mrs. Skipper supported those
ideas and will discuss this more in depth with the superintendent, and she would also like to include a Christmas message, which the
board supported. Mrs. Hanson will send any additional ideas to Mrs. Watt for the board to discuss. A draft will be sent out for board
members to approve prior to distribution.

Mr. Alvero wished everyone a merry Christmas. He noted this has been a challenging year for everyone, and he realizes negotiations
did not end up in the way that employees wanted. He suggested starting work on a plan as soon as possible to work towards a better
outcome next year.  

Adjournment  (9:49 a.m.)

Page 13 of 268

DRAFT



Superintendent of Schools School Board Chair

Page 14 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C2 - Personnel Consent Agenda

Description
Florida Statutes, State Board Rules and Clay County School Board Policies require Board notification and/or action regarding
decisions and recommendations of the Superintendent related to Personnel matters.  Actions regarding personnel have been
recommended by Supervisors, approved by the Superintendent and are being forwarded to the Board for action or, if appropriate,
for information.  Personnel Actions, Transfer Requests, Pre-employments, Leave Forms or Directives from the Superintendent
are available for review in the Human Resources Division.

Gap Analysis
These personnel actions are necessary for the effective operation of the school district.

Previous Outcomes
The Clay County School Board has approved each month a Personnel Consent Agenda which contains appointments, re-
appointments, transfers, redesignations, retirements, resignations, and conclude employments.

Expected Outcomes
Approval of the Personnel Consent Agenda.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2:  Enact a highly effective recruitment and professional development plan along with opportunities for growth and career
development to ensure all students have access to a world class education to become life-long learners for success in a global and
competitive workplace and in acquiring applicable life skills.
Strategy 2.1.1 Develop strategic partnerships with organizations and universities to source new talent for a diverse workforce that
is effective and highly-qualified for non-instructional, instructional, and administrative positions throughout CCDS.
Strategy 2.1.3 Expand involvement in community-sponsored career fairs, providing the opportunity to recruit a diverse
population to the multiple career paths within CCDS.
Strategy 2.1.4 Continue to streamline the application and onboarding process to successfully engage and hire quality applicants.
Strategy 2.1.5 Collaborate to strengthen CCDS’ branding and marketing to increase the awareness and presence of career
opportunities.

Recommendation
To approve the Personnel Consent Agenda.

Contact
Brenda G. Troutman, Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources.  (904) 336-6701 Brenda.Troutman@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Personnel changes involving already-allocated positions will result in salary impact per the current Board-approved Salary
Schedule.  This also includes supplemental positions.  See current backup for allocation changes for impact of new positions.

Review Comments

Attachments

Personnel Consent Agenda_01_08_2026.pdf

Page 15 of 268

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/personnel-consent-agenda_01_08_2026.pdf


Page 16 of 268

DRAFT



Page 17 of 268

DRAFT



Page 18 of 268

DRAFT



Page 19 of 268

DRAFT



Page 20 of 268

DRAFT



Page 21 of 268

DRAFT



Page 22 of 268

DRAFT



Page 23 of 268

DRAFT



Page 24 of 268

DRAFT



Page 25 of 268

DRAFT



Page 26 of 268

DRAFT



Page 27 of 268

DRAFT



Page 28 of 268

DRAFT



Page 29 of 268

DRAFT



Page 30 of 268

DRAFT



Page 31 of 268

DRAFT



Page 32 of 268

DRAFT



Page 33 of 268

DRAFT



Page 34 of 268

DRAFT



Page 35 of 268

DRAFT



Page 36 of 268

DRAFT



Page 37 of 268

DRAFT



Page 38 of 268

DRAFT



Page 39 of 268

DRAFT



Page 40 of 268

DRAFT



Page 41 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C3 - Elementary Student Out of State Travel

Description
The School Board recognizes that field trips, when used for teaching and learning integral to the curriculum, are an educationally
sound and important ingredient in the instructional program of the schools. Properly planned and executed field trips supplement
and enrich classroom instruction by providing learning experiences that will enhance mastery of the curriculum standards of the
State of Florida. A field trip is defined as any planned, student-travel activity which is approved as part of the district's
educational program and is under the direct supervision and control of an instructional staff member or any advisor as designated
by the Superintendent.
                                                                                                  Field Trips Details

School Date Destination Group Purpose

Argyle Elem.
April 24,

2026
Valdosta, GA 6th grade

The sixth grade students will be studying force and
motion, in addition to changes in force and
unbalanced forces.  For the trip, students will spend
time studying roller coasters (force and velocity) and
designing their own roller coasters. 

Spring Park
Elem.

April 1,
2026

Valdosta, GA 6th grade

Students will be able to discuss the law of
conservation of energy and how energy can
transform from one form to another (kinetic and
potential) within a system such as roller coasters,
pendulums, rubber bands, etc.  Students should also
discuss the relationships between kinetic energy to
mass and speed, and potential energy to mass and
height of an object.  They will be able to do this by
watching or riding the various rides at the theme
park. 

         

 

Gap Analysis
Field trips provide students with a window to the real world that they don't get in the classroom, and they can help students
understand real-world applications to abstract concepts.

Previous Outcomes
All out of county activity trips are selected, planned, evaluated, and approved or rejected in conformity with written district
policy.

Expected Outcomes
It is important to recognize that learning outcomes from field trips can range from cognitive to affective outcomes. Exposing
students to new experiences and can increase interest and engagement in academics regardless of prior interests.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure that every classroom provides a quality and rigorous instructional experience in order to elevate student outcomes.

Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board approve out of state student travel.   

Page 42 of 268

DRAFT



Contact
Roger Dailey, Chief Academic Officer; roger.dailey@myoneclay.net; 904-336-6904
Heather Teto, Chief of Elementary Education, heather.teto@myoneclay.net; 904-336-6906.

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Elem. Out State Travel.pdf

Page 43 of 268

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/elem-out-state-travel.pdf


Page 44 of 268

DRAFT



Page 45 of 268

DRAFT



Page 46 of 268

DRAFT



Page 47 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C4 - Request for Review or Reconsideration of Library Materials Appeals

Description
As outlined in Clay County District Schools Policy 2522: Challenges to Adoption or Use of Instructional, Library, or Reading
List Materials, the Petitioner may appeal any Final Decisions of the Superintendent’s Designee, which are based on the Statutory
Compliance Team or his/her own review, and which Final Decisions are or will be forwarded to the School Board for final
approval. 

Within ten (10) calendar days of the Superintendent’s Designee’s decision, the Petitioner shall file with the
Superintendent’s office a request for appeal. This appeal can be accessed on the district’s website and is submitted using
the Google form document. 

1.

Upon receipt of the Request for Appeal, the office of the Superintendent will mail a Notice of Board action to the
Petitioner which states the date of the School Board meeting at which the Final Decision will be considered by the School
Board. 

2.

It is understood that this vote is not a School Board endorsement of the content or subject matter, but a vote to state that
the law and policy have been followed. 

3.

In considering these matters, the School Board shall be sitting as a quasi judicial body, accordingly, and pursuant to F. S.
286.0114(3)(d), speakers shall be allowed to address the Board on this matter.

4.

All decisions of the School Board are final.5.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
It is understood that this vote is not a School Board endorsement of the content or subject matter, but a vote to state that the law
and policy have been followed.  In considering these matters, the School Board shall be sitting as a quasi judicial body,
accordingly, and pursuant to F. S. 286.0114(3)(d), speakers shall be allowed to address the Board on this matter. All decisions of
the School Board are final.
 

Strategic Plan Goal
N/A

Recommendation
That the School Board approve the attached list of appeals. 

Contact
Dr. Cynthia Johnson cynthia.johnson@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
0

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 48 of 268

DRAFT

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1ycN4N1V586oMy5NFCz_9AGkq9T0O-4qh/view
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1ycN4N1V586oMy5NFCz_9AGkq9T0O-4qh/view


January 2026 Appeals_Request for Review or Reconsideration of Library Materials.pdf

Page 49 of 268

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/january-2026-appeals_request-for-review-or-reconsideration-of-library-materials.pdf


January 2026: Request for Review or Reconsideration of Library Materials Appeals

Appealed Title Author
Pre Challenge 

Grade 
Level/Band

Original Committee Review Results

Pre Appeal
Grade 

Level/Band
PAS: Parental 

Advisory Status

Review of Appeal Results

A Madness so Discreet Mindy McGinnis 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

A Possibility of Whales Karen Rivers K-6 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:JH & HS Only 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:JH & HS Only

Alanna: The First Adventure Tamora Pierce K-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:JH & HS Only 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:JH & HS Only

Ash Princess Laura Sebastian 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection

Becoming Brianna Terri Libenson K-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:JH & HS Only 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:JH & HS Only

Before We Disappear Shaun David Hutchinson 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection

Bittersweet Sarah Ockler 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection 9-12

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Blue Noon Scott Westerfeld K-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:HS Only

Boot Camp Todd Strasser 9-12
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Brave New World Aldous Huxley 9-12
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS Remove from ALL Libraries

Briar Rose Jane Yolen 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Burning Nation Trent Reedy 7-12
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Bygone Badass Broads Mackenzi Lee 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection

CHIRP Kate Messner K-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:JH & HS Only 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:HS Only

Code Name Verity Elizabeth Wein 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Page 50 of 268

DRAFT



January 2026: Request for Review or Reconsideration of Library Materials Appeals

Appealed Title Author
Pre Challenge 

Grade 
Level/Band

Original Committee Review Results

Pre Appeal
Grade 

Level/Band
PAS: Parental 

Advisory Status

Review of Appeal Results

Cured Bethany Wiggens 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:HS Only

Dark Days James Ponti K-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:JH & HS Only 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:JH & HS Only

Dead City James Ponti K-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:JH & HS Only 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:JH & HS Only

Delirium Lauren Oliver 9-12
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS Remove from ALL Libraries

Delirium Stories Lauren Oliver 7-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Dragonseye Anne McCaffrey 7-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12 Not in Collection

Dreamland Sarah Dessen 9-12
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Exit, Pursued by a Bear E.K. Johnston 9-12
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Fragile Eternity Melissa Marr 7-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

How Dare the Sun Rise Sandra 
Uwiringiyimana 7-12

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Incarceron Catherine Fisher 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:HS Only

Lost in the River of Grass Ginny Robby K-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:JH & HS Only 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:JH & HS Only

Marilyn Monroe: The Biography Donald Spoto 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Murder is Bad Manners Robin Stevens K-6 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:JH & HS Only 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:JH & HS Only

My Heart is on the Ground Ann Rinaldi K-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:JH & HS Only 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:JH & HS Only

Page 51 of 268

DRAFT



January 2026: Request for Review or Reconsideration of Library Materials Appeals

Appealed Title Author
Pre Challenge 

Grade 
Level/Band

Original Committee Review Results

Pre Appeal
Grade 

Level/Band
PAS: Parental 

Advisory Status

Review of Appeal Results

Never Evers Tom Ellen 7-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:HS Only

Pet Akwaeke Emezi 7-12
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Rural Voices Edited By: Nora 
Shalaway Carpenter 9-12

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Saint Anything Sarah Dessen 7-12
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Salt to the Sea Ruta Sepetys 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:HS Only

Skink No Surrender Carl Hiaasen K-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:HS Only

Strange the Dreamer Laini Taylor 7-12
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Summer of the Gypsy Moths Sara Pennypacker K-6 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:JH & HS Only 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:JH & HS Only

Taken at Dusk C.C. Hunter 9-12
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Teardrop Lauren Kate 9-12
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

The Amber Spyglass Philip Pullman K-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:JH & HS Only 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only

The Angel of Death Alane Ferguson 7-12
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

The Box in the Woods Maureen Johnson 9-12
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

The Breadwinner Deborah Ellis K-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:HS Only

Page 52 of 268

DRAFT



January 2026: Request for Review or Reconsideration of Library Materials Appeals

Appealed Title Author
Pre Challenge 

Grade 
Level/Band

Original Committee Review Results

Pre Appeal
Grade 

Level/Band
PAS: Parental 

Advisory Status

Review of Appeal Results

The Clone Catastrophe David Lubar 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:HS Only

The Darkest Minds Alexandra Bracken 7-12
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

The Fall of Five Pittacus Lore 7-12
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

The Fashion Committee Susan Juby 9-12
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

The Graveyard Book Neil Gaiman K-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:JH & HS Only 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:JH & HS Only

The Hand on the Wall Maureen Johnson 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:HS Only

The Rule of Mirrors Caragh M. O'Brien 7-8
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS Not in Collection

The Shade of the Moon Susan Pfeffer 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection

The Unexpected Everything Morgan Matson 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection

The Unfinished Life of Addison 
Stone Adele Griffin 9-12

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

The Vanishing Stair Maureen Johnson 7-12
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

The Witch of Blackbird Pond Elizabeth George 
Speare K-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:JH & HS Only 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:JH & HS Only

Torment Lauren Kate 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:HS Only

Tweet Cute Emma Lord 7-12
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Page 53 of 268

DRAFT



January 2026: Request for Review or Reconsideration of Library Materials Appeals

Appealed Title Author
Pre Challenge 

Grade 
Level/Band

Original Committee Review Results

Pre Appeal
Grade 

Level/Band
PAS: Parental 

Advisory Status

Review of Appeal Results

We'll Always Have Summer Jenny Han 7-12
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Wildcard Marie Lu 7-12
No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 
Advisory Status

9-12
PAS

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Caste Isabel Wilkerson 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection 9-12

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Chlorine Sky Mahogany L. Browne 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection 9-12

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Crush Carrie Mac 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection

Deadly Little Secret Laurie Faria Stolarz 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection 9-12

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status

Definitely Dominguita Terry Catasus 
Jennings K-6 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection K-6 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection

Felix Yz Lisa Bunker 7-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection 7-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection

In The Role of Brie Hutchens Nicole Melleby 7-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection 7-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection

Inkdeath Cornelia Funke K-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:JH & HS Only 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:HS Only
La Belle Sauvage: The Book of 
Dust Philip Pullman 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection

Minecraft Volume 2 Sfe' R. Monster K-6 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection K-6 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection

Mr. Wolf's Class #2 A.N. Steinke K-6 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection K-6 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection

Pretty Little Devils Nancy Holder 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:HS Only

Stargazing Jen Wang K-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:JH & HS Only 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:JH & HS Only

The Breakup Bible Melissa Kantor 7-8 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12 Not in collection

Page 54 of 268

DRAFT



January 2026: Request for Review or Reconsideration of Library Materials Appeals

Appealed Title Author
Pre Challenge 

Grade 
Level/Band

Original Committee Review Results

Pre Appeal
Grade 

Level/Band
PAS: Parental 

Advisory Status

Review of Appeal Results

The First Part Last Angela Johnson 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12

No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep: HS Only Parental 

Advisory Status
The Heart and Mind of Frances 
Pauley April Stevens K-6 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection K-6 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection

The Love Curse of Melody 
McIntyre Robin Talley 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only

The Lucy Variations Sara Zarr 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:HS Only 9-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:HS Only

The Odyssey (Graphic Novel) Gareth Hinds 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:JH & HS Only 7-12 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:HS Only
The Unexplainable Disappearance 
of Mars Patel Sheela Chari K-6 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection K-6 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection

What is a Presidential Election Douglas Yacka K-6 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection Keep:JH & HS Only K-6 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection Keep:JH & HS Only

Who was Sally Ride Megan Stine K-6 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 
Collection K-6 No violation of Florida Statute, Remain in 

Collection

Page 55 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C5 - K-12 Academic Services Out of State and Overnight Student Travel

Description
The School Board recognizes that field trips, when used for teaching and learning integral to the curriculum, are an educationally
sound and important ingredient in the instructional program of the schools. Properly planned and executed field trips supplement
and enrich classroom instruction by providing learning experiences that will enhance mastery of the curriculum standards of the
State of Florida. A field trip is defined as any planned, student-travel activity which is approved as part of the district's
educational program and is under the direct supervision and control of an instructional staff member or any advisor as designated
by the Superintendent.
                                                                                                                                                         Field Trips Details

School Date Destination Group Purpose
Oakleaf Junior
High

12/19 -
12/20/25

Alachua, FL
Robotics
Club

Northeast Florida's Lego League Regional
Championship

Fleming Island
High

2/5 - 2/8/26 Orlando, FL
Dance
Team

National Dance competition

Oakleaf High
1/23 -
1/24/26

Waycross,
GA

NJROTC Area 10 Rifle championship match

Orange Park
High

12/4 -
12/7/25

Tallhassee,
FL

Band State competition at FSU

Gap Analysis
Field trips provide students with a window to the real world that they don't get in the classroom, and they can help students
understand real-world applications to abstract concepts.

Previous Outcomes
All out of county activity trips are selected, planned, evaluated, and approved or rejected in conformity with written district
policy.

Expected Outcomes
It is important to recognize that learning outcomes from field trips can range from cognitive to affective outcomes. Exposing
students to new experiences and can increase interest and engagement in academics regardless of prior interests.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure that every classroom provides a quality and rigorous instructional experience in order to elevate student outcomes.

Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board approve out of county student travel.   

Contact
Roger Dailey, Chief Academic Officer; roger.dailey@myoneclay.net; 904-336-6904
Treasure Pickett, Chief of Secondary Ed; treasure.pickett@myoneclay.net; 904-336-6918

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 56 of 268

DRAFT



January 2026 Student Travel.pdf

Page 57 of 268

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/january-2026-student-travel.pdf


Page 58 of 268

DRAFT



Page 59 of 268

DRAFT



Page 60 of 268

DRAFT



Page 61 of 268

DRAFT



Page 62 of 268

DRAFT



Page 63 of 268

DRAFT



Page 64 of 268

DRAFT



Page 65 of 268

DRAFT



Page 66 of 268

DRAFT



Page 67 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C6 - Proposed Allocation Changes for 2025-2026

Description
Staff allocation documents clarify how each school, district department and division is staffed for the 2025-2026 school year.
The School Board is required to take action on all staff allocation changes.

Gap Analysis
These allocation changes are required to ensure the adequate staffing of the district and schools.

Previous Outcomes
The district and schools are adequately staffed.

Expected Outcomes
Staffing will be sufficient to meet the needs of the various schools and district departments.

Strategic Plan Goal
The district ensures fiscal responsibility and equitable distribution of resources.

Recommendation
Approve staff allocation plan as submitted.

Contact
Ms. Dawn Posey, CPA, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs, (904) 336-6721, dawn.posey@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Reflected in attachment.

Review Comments

Attachments

01.08.26 - 25-26 Allocation Summary - 2025-26.pdf

Page 68 of 268

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/010826-25-26-allocation-summary-2025-26.pdf


PROPOSED CHANGES TO STAFF ALLOCATIONS  2025-2026 SUMMARY  Board Meeting, January 08, 2026

Pending Board Approval 01/08/2026

School Add Delete Allocation Comment Salary Benefits Total Cost

2025-2026 ACTIONS

General Funds

SPC - 0571 (1.0) ESE Behavioral Health Assistant To meet student needs. ($20,240) ($7,106) ($27,346)

LAE - 0451 1.0 ESE Behavioral Health Assistant To meet student needs. $20,240) $7,106) $27,346)

OVE - 0621 1.0 ESE General Assistant To meet student needs. $20,240) $7,106) $27,346)

OVE - 0621 (1.0) Media Technical Assistant To meet student needs. ($24,255) ($8,516) ($32,771)
($4,015) ($1,410) ($5,425)

Federal Funds - 420

$0) $0) $0)
TOTAL: $0) $0) $0)

Page 69 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C7 - Monthly Financial Reports for November, 2025

Description
The Monthly Financial Reports, in accordance with SBE Rule 6A-1.008, are submitted for the use and consideration of the Board
for the month ending October 31, 2025.

Gap Analysis
The Monthly Financial Reports show compliance to the district's amended budget as of the month end reported and meet State
and School Board financial reporting requirements.

Previous Outcomes
It has been a past (normal) practice to provide Monthly Financial Reports, in accordance with SBE Rule 6A-1.008.
 

Expected Outcomes
The Monthly Financial Reports are provided to meet the stewardship responsibilities of the district for reporting and
accountability of the district's finances.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 5:  Strategy 2:  Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize
available resources necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.  Promote fiscal
transparency and communication.
 

Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board accept for use and consideration the Superintendent's Monthly Financial Reports for
October, 2025.
 

Contact
Dawn Posey, Assistant Superintendent of Business Affairs, (904) 336-6721, dawn.posey@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
The Monthly Financial Reports reflect the year-to-date results of operations.

Review Comments

Attachments

November 2025 Property Report.pdf

Financial Board Report NOV 2025 Final.pdf

Nov 2025 Board Item$50,000 - $100,000 Contracts Signed by Superintendent.pdf

Page 70 of 268

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/november-2025-property-report.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/financial-board-report-nov-2025-final.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/nov-2025-board-item50000-100000-contracts-signed-by-superintendent.pdf


Page 71 of 268

DRAFT



Page 72 of 268

DRAFT



Page 73 of 268

DRAFT



Page 74 of 268

DRAFT



Page 75 of 268

DRAFT



Page 76 of 268

DRAFT



District
Summary
Budget

Federal Impact Aid            3121    550,000.00 550,000.00 0.00 0.00%

R  O  T  C                    3191    500,000.00 506,284.10 34,766.25 6.87%

1,050,000.00 1,056,284.10 34,766.25
Federal Through Local Revenue 3280    0.00 219,333.60 54,833.35 0.00%

Medicaid                      3202    2,000,000.00 2,000,000.00 157,640.10 7.88%

Other Federal Thru State      3290    0.00 4,933.13 4,933.13 0.00%

2,000,000.00 2,224,266.73 217,406.58
Class Size Reduction          3355    36,766,787.00 36,766,787.00 12,255,596.00 33.33%

CO&DS Withheld/Admin Expense  3323    24,000.00 24,000.00 0.00 0.00%

Florida Educ Finance Program  3310    227,520,714.00 227,520,714.00 85,515,395.00 37.59%

Miscellaneous State Revenue   3390    1,814,592.00 1,893,005.97 1,034,642.17 54.66%

Other Misc State Revenue      3399    0.00 67,827.45 67,827.45 0.00%

State License Tax             3343    35,000.00 35,000.00 17,328.61 49.51%

School Recognition            3361    0.00 0.00 1,834,847.00 0.00%

3370    85,000.00 85,000.00 25,032.74 29.45%

3371    475,000.00 475,000.00 119,113.07 25.08%

Workforce Dev CAP Grant       3316    3,956,156.25 3,956,156.25 2,028,687.50 51.28%

Workforce Development         3315    1,100,000.00 1,100,000.00 432,918.00 39.36%

Workforce Performance Incentiv 3317    10,000.00 10,000.00 1,603.00 16.03%

271,787,249.25 271,933,490.67 103,332,990.54
Bus Fees Except for Schools   3491    0.00 0.00 120,044.42 0.00%

District School Taxes         3411    79,306,622.00 79,306,622.00 11,389,075.23 0.00%

Receipt Of Food Serv Ind Cost 3499    300,000.00 300,000.00 0.00 0.00%

Adult Gen Educ Course Fee-GED 3461    30,000.00 30,000.00 21,720.00 72.40%

Gifts   Grants & Bequests     3440    100,000.00 146,467.00 61,905.60 42.27%

Interest  Incl Profit On Inves 3430    2,000,000.00 2,000,000.00 819,625.88 40.98%

Lost Damaged &Sale Of Textbook 3498    1,000.00 1,000.00 (648.93)                               -64.89%

Miscellaneous Local Sources   3490    3,103,146.76 3,151,072.90 1,734,059.66 55.03%

Other Schl  Class Fees        3479    30,000.00 30,000.00 32,790.56 109.30%

Other Student Fees            3469    19,685.75 21,102.50 9,087.88 43.07%

Other Misc Local Sources      3495    500,000.00 564,308.25 598,485.51 106.06%

Preschool Program Fees        3471    500,000.00 500,000.00 175,930.63 35.19%

Receipt Of Fed Indirect Cost  3494    590,000.00 590,000.00 104,299.17 17.68%

Refund Of Prior Year's Expense 3497    100,000.00 100,000.00 1,896.25 1.90%

Rent                          3425    500,000.00 500,000.00 206,521.68 41.30%

Tax Redemptions               3421    1,000,000.00 1,000,000.00 13,622.75 1.36%

Transportation Services       3492    2,271.85 27,523.85 22,001.36 79.94%

88,082,726.36 88,268,096.50 15,310,417.65 17.35%
Interfund Transfer            3650    2,000,000.00 2,000,000.00 0.00 0.00%

Transfer From Capital Projects 3630    10,769,980.00 12,138,753.00 342,781.00 2.82%

12,769,980.00 14,138,753.00 342,781.00 2.42%
Addtnl Mill Contribution      3732    0.00 0.00 0.00 N/A

Insurance Loss Recoveries     3740    5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 0.00%

Sale Of Equipment             3733    50,000.00 50,000.00 90,628.19 181.26%

55,000.00 55,000.00 90,628.19 164.78%
375,744,955.61 377,675,891.00 119,328,990.21 31.60%

District
Summary
Budget

Fund Balance July 1,2025 20,069,155.42 20,069,155.42 20,069,155.42

395,814,111.03 397,745,046.42 139,398,145.63

Acct# Amended Budget Cash Received % OF COLL

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD
GENERAL FUNDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUE
07/01/2025  thru 11/30/2025

Federal Direct                

Federal Direct                 - Total
Fed through Local and State   

Fed through Local and State    - Total
Rev from State Sources        

Voluntary Pre-K               

Rev from State Sources         - Total

Acct# Amended Budget Cash Received

GRAND TOTAL

Rev from Local Sources        

Rev from Local Sources         - Total
Transfers                     

Transfers                      - Total
Other Financing Sources       

Other Financing Sources        - Total
Total Revenue and Transfers

Page 77 of 268

DRAFT



District Amended Emp Pur Eng Mat Cap Other % OF
Summary Budget Benefits Services Services Supplies Outlay Transfers Budget
Budget

Basic FEFP K-12               5100 171,036,611.35 172,465,079.37         29,811,758.94 10,460,614.64 10,698,276.00 482.21 5,572,419.78 132,558.08 450,368.89 57,126,478.540 33.12%

Exceptional                   5200 55,492,722.30 55,498,225.55           12,334,645.25 4,453,273.71 967,328.92 1,301.70 90,028.94 10,583.43 36.22 17,857,198.17 32.18%

Applied Technology            5300 13,077,420.54 13,119,141.93           1,876,663.05 670,861.91 1,090,061.44 2,023.47 194,654.98 246,774.18 17,986.22 4,099,025.25 31.24%

Adult General                 5400 1,582,791.95 1,540,598.50             140,299.07 36,350.03 37,263.15 0.00 9,576.91 2,859.54 35,870.80 262,219.50 17.02%

Pre K                         5500 1,392,064.11 1,399,865.16             352,050.29 140,515.60 15,373.78 0.00 7,396.44 0.00 0.00 515,336.11 36.81%

Other Instruction             5900 202,957.04 253,053.49                420,216.63 77,219.66 11,001.10 0.00 28,151.74 21,280.09 33,116.04 590,985.26 233.54%

242,784,567.29 244,275,964.00 44,935,633.23 15,838,835.55 12,819,304.39 3,807.38 5,902,228.79 414,055.32 537,378.17 80,451,242.83 32.93%

District Amended Emp Pur Eng Mat Cap Other % OF
Summary Budget Benefits Services Services Supplies Outlay Transfers Budget
Budget

Pupil Personnel Services      6100 24,360,847.34 24,104,407.00           4,919,934.01 1,613,331.88 120,955.89 1,584.55 48,848.12 7,923.35 22,135.69 6,734,713.49 27.94%

Instructional Media           6200 4,226,862.12 4,231,540.00             883,485.59 327,741.77 150,774.46 0.00 14,458.94 41,583.91 561.00 1,418,605.67 33.52%

Inst   & Curric   Dev Services 6300 5,777,996.55 5,963,350.00             1,673,071.55 552,227.33 15,873.28 337.89 2,496.63 3,509.79 320.00 2,247,836.47 37.69%

Inst   Staff Training Services 6400 3,722,899.90 3,798,088.00             763,047.18 223,714.67 93,303.41 0.00 452.91 0.00 23,654.20 1,104,172.37 29.07%

Instruction Related Technology 6500 6,799,711.50 6,799,711.50             971,427.01 319,716.78 2,260,564.98 0.00 13,650.47 32,594.48 870.00 3,598,823.72 52.93%

Board                         7100 2,592,580.80 2,592,580.80             120,641.53 71,082.57 2,138,103.08 0.00 30.50 0.00 23,765.00 2,353,622.68 90.78%

General Administration        7200 628,784.24 628,784.24                151,567.29 77,829.94 7,037.95 132.19 1,192.87 0.00 26,196.00 263,956.24 41.98%

School Administration         7300 18,469,998.64 18,498,181.00           5,759,272.71 1,809,152.20 18,975.09 0.00 49,236.94 30,481.08 12,095.04 7,679,213.06 41.51%

Facilities Aquisition & Const 7400 13,030,785.93 7,120,573.00             489,090.70 147,044.86 426,884.71 2,878.69 2,139.87 384,100.95 457,919.72 1,910,059.50 26.82%

Fiscal Services               7500 2,284,740.92 2,284,740.92             555,133.23 174,716.07 18,194.56 0.00 8,555.94 0.00 11,001.32 767,601.12 33.60%

Food Services                 7600 107,319.00 107,502.11                16,800.35 3,900.43 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 20,700.78 19.26%

Central Services              7700 4,404,568.46 4,392,944.00             1,003,591.71 314,193.54 134,331.87 1,213.70 24,852.71 13,877.05 14,935.06 1,506,995.64 34.30%

Pupil Transportation Services 7800 16,534,954.25 17,020,922.00           4,223,572.80 1,293,490.86 240,634.00 592,107.67 370,375.71 92,490.35 879.97 6,813,551.36 40.03%

Operation Of Plant            7900 34,709,510.49 24,621,117.00           3,142,004.11 1,112,601.75 2,591,764.67 2,362,387.83 374,310.20 129,105.16 20.77 9,712,194.49 39.45%

Maintenance Of Plant          8100 10,072,353.69 9,851,421.00             1,575,781.30 539,051.87 877,362.05 57,697.19 461,779.17 60,374.62 3,921.33 3,575,967.53 36.30%

Administrative Technology Svcs 8200 1,635,875.73 1,635,875.73             550,807.00 159,887.05 3,314.76 4,363.19 5,619.76 0.00 160.94 724,152.70 44.27%

Community Services            9100 316,161.51 347,703.00                84,321.68 31,282.68 4,082.83 0.00 11,524.01 275.98 6,748.00 138,235.18 39.76%

Debt Service                  9200 0.00 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 N/A

Transfers 9700 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 N/A

Internal Service Proprietary  9900 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 N/A

149,675,951.07 133,999,441.30 26,883,549.75 8,770,966.25 9,102,157.59 3,022,702.90 1,389,524.75 796,316.72 605,184.04 50,570,402.00 37.74%

Total Expenses : 392,460,518.36 378,275,405.3 71,819,182.98 24,609,801.8 21,921,461.98 3,026,510.28 7,291,753.540 1,210,372.04 1,142,562.21 131,021,644.83 34.64%

Total Other Financing 875,738.96 875,738.96

BeginningFund Balance 7/1/2025 20,069,155.42 20,069,155.42 20,069,155.42

Fund Balance Contribution 6/30/2026 1,559,701.29 1,559,701.29 (11,692,654.62)       

Projected Ending Fund Balance 6/30/2026 21,628,856.71 21,628,856.71 8,376,500.80

414,965,114.03 400,780,000.97

Total Expenses - 6000-9999

Grand Total

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD
GENERAL FUNDS

STATEMENT OF EXPENDITURES AND TRANSFERS
07/01/2025  thru 11/30/2025

Acct# Salaries Totals

Total Expenses - 5000 - 5999

Acct# Salaries Totals

Page 78 of 268

DRAFT



District Amended Cash
Summary Budget Received
Budget

Local Sources   District School Taxes         3411    21,040,061.00 21,040,061.00 2,958,985.48 14.06%

Local Sources   Tax Redemptions         3421 0.00 0.00 1,731.80

21,040,061.00 21,040,061.00 2,960,717.28

Fund Balance, July 1, 2025 Fund Balance                  2750    13,210,798.76 13,210,798.76 13,210,798.69 100.00%

13,210,798.76 13,210,798.76 13,210,798.69

34,250,859.76 34,250,859.76 16,171,515.97

Local Sources    - Total

Fund Balance     - Total

Grand Total 

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD
GENERAL FUNDS - Additional Millage Fund

STATEMENT OF REVENUE
07/01/2025  thru 11/30/2025

% OF COLLAcct#

Page 79 of 268

DRAFT



District Amended 
Summary Budget
Budget

Facilities Aquisition & Const 7400 7,297,235.90 7,297,235.93 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,649,542.21 0.00 2,649,542.21 36.31%

Central Services              7700 12,000.00 12,000.00 0.00 0.00 787.94 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 787.94 6.57%

Pupil Transportation Services 7800 109,736.60 109,736.60 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00%

Operation Of Plant            7900 10,441,377.64 10,441,377.61 804,626.90 254,788.34 4,041,755.43 5,110.70 8,399.83 271.07 4,363.16 5,119,315.43 49.03%

Maintenance Of Plant          8100 220,933.86 220,933.86 66,567.45 24,787.26 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 91,354.71 41.35%

Transfer Of Funds             9700 2,000,000.00 2,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00%

20,081,284.00 20,081,284.00 871,194.35 279,575.60 4,042,543.37 5,110.70 8,399.83 2,649,813.28 4,363.16 7,861,000.29 39.15%

Beginning Fund Balance 7/1/2025 13,210,798.76 13,210,798.76 13,210,798.69

Fund Balance Contribution 6/30/2026 958,777.00 958,777.00 (4,900,283.01)

Projected Ending Fund Balance 6/30/2026 14,169,575.76 14,169,575.76 8,310,515.68

34,250,859.76 34,250,859.76

Total Expenses

Grand Total

Pur ServicesAcct# % OF Budget

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD
GENERAL FUNDS - Additional Millage Fund

STATEMENT OF EXPENDITURES AND TRANSFERS
07/01/2025  thru 11/30/2025

Expense
Eng Services    Mat Supplies     Cap Outlay Other Trns TotalsSalaries Emp Benefits

Page 80 of 268

DRAFT



Revenues and Transfers

District Summary Amended % OF COLL
Budget Budget

Interest  Incl Profit On Inves 3430    1,000.00 1,000.00 8,472.09 847.21%

1,000.00 1,000.00 8,472.09 531.18%

Racing Commission Funds       3341    225,575.00 225,575.00 0.00 N/A

225,575.00 225,575.00 0.00 0.00%

Transfer From Capital Projects 3630    6,222,559.42 6,222,559.42 0.00 N/A

6,222,559.42 6,222,559.42 0.00 N/A

6,449,134.42 6,449,134.42 8,472.09 0.08%

436,731.64 436,731.64 436,731.64

6,885,866.06 6,885,866.06 445,203.73

EXPENDITURES

District Summary Amended 
Budget Budget

Redempt Of Prnc 710     4,068,330.71 4,068,330.71 0.00 0.00%

Interest        720     2,365,803.71 2,365,803.71 30,787.50 1.30%

Dues And Fees   730     5,000.00 5,000.00 3,000.00 60.00%

6,439,134.42 6,439,134.42 33,787.50 0.52%

6,439,134.42 6,439,134.42 33,787.50 0.52%

District Summary Amended
Budget Budget

Fund Balance, July 1, 2025 7/1/2025 436,731.64 436,731.64 436,731.64

Fund Balance Contribution 6/30/2026 10,000.00 10,000.00 (25,315.41)

Projected Ending Fund Balance 6/30/2026 446,731.64 446,731.64 411,416.23

6,885,866.06 6,885,866.06

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD
DEBT SERVICE FUND

STATEMENT OF REVENUE, EXPENDITURES, AND TRANSFERS
07/01/2025  thru 11/30/2025

Local Sources   

Acct# Expended

State Sources   

Transfers       

Debt Service                  
% OF EXP

GRAND TOTAL

Acct#

Total Interest  Incl Profit On Inves

Total Racing Commission Funds       

Total Transfer From Capital Projects

Total REVENUE AND TRANSFERS

Total FUND BALANCE July 1, 2025

GRAND TOTAL

Total Debt Service                  

Total EXPENDITURES

Fund Balance

Acct# Cash Received

Cash Received

Page 81 of 268

DRAFT



District Summary Amended Cash % OF COLL
Budget Budget Received

CO & DS Distributd To District 3321    1,600,000.00 1,600,000.00 0.00 0.00%

Interest On Undistrib CO & DS 3325    46,500.00 46,500.00 0.00 0.00%

Miscellaneous State Revenue   3390    0.00 0.00 51,209.14 0.00%

Charter Sch Capital Ou Revenue 3397    0.00 1,368,773.00 457,583.00 33.43%

1,646,500.00 3,015,273.00 508,792.14

District Summary Amended Cash % OF COLL
Budget Budget Received

District Local Cap Improv Taxs 3413    31,560,212.00 31,560,212.00 296,207.77 0.00%

Local Sales Taxes             3418    20,000,000.00 20,000,000.00 6,412,105.50 32.06%

Interest  Incl Profit On Inves 3430    675,000.00 688,000.00 363,738.90 52.87%

Miscellaneous Local Sources   3490    0.00 0.00 576,211.95 0.00%

Impact Fees                   3496    9,500,000.00 9,500,000.00 4,234,678.61 44.58%

61,735,212.00 61,748,212.00 11,882,942.73 19.24%
63,381,712.00 64,763,485.00 12,391,734.87 19.13%

58,518,315.76 58,518,315.76 58,518,315.76

121,900,027.76 123,281,800.76 70,910,050.63 57.52%

District Summary Amended Expended % OF EXP
Budget Budget

Redemption Of Principal       710     312,520.00 0.00 0.00 N/A

Interest                      720     766.74 766.74 0.00 0.00%

Dues And Fees                 730     0.00 0.00 0.00 N/A

313,286.74 766.74 0.00

District Summary Amended Expended % OF EXP
Budget Budget

Buildings & Fixed Equipment   630     31,320,020.59 31,265,020.33 8,467,246.06 27.08%

Direct Purchases, Buildings   631     3,945,601.67 3,945,601.67 694,964.77 17.61%

Equipment $1000 & Over        641     565,274.42 546,794.07 415,274.32 75.95%

Equipment Less Than $1000     642     1,118,600.56 1,118,600.56 913,100.56 81.63%

Comp Hdw $1000 & Over         643     88,493.44 88,493.44 88,493.44 100.00%

Comp Hdw < $1000              644     231,057.47 231,057.47 231,057.47 100.00%

Tech Rel Fix/Equip > $1000    648     200,000.00 200,000.00 0.00 0.00%

Tech Rel FFE < $1000          649     250,781.53 250,781.53 781.53 0.31%

School Buses                  651     6,976,612.93 6,976,612.93 3,393,091.35 48.64%

Land                          660     1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 0.00%

Cap Imp Other than Bldgs      671     4,626,190.53 4,891,190.53 526,374.54 10.76%

Non-Capitalized Improvement   672     3,793,001.40 3,684,932.50 529,495.01 14.37%

Direct Purchase Capitalized   673     1,964,056.77 1,604,056.77 45,368.00 2.83%

Capitalized Remodeling        681     24,063,601.72 24,356,331.94 4,372,477.14 17.95%

Non-Cap Remodeling/Renovations 682     15,575,968.75 15,876,261.01 4,115,332.88 25.92%

Direct Purch-Capitlizd Remodel 683     4,707,193.65 4,496,346.92 123,163.04 2.74%

Dir Purch-Non-Cap Remodel     684     715,901.27 710,274.77 173,219.86 24.39%

Software $1000 & Over         691     0.00 312,520.00 289,391.06 92.60%

CHARTER LCIF                  793     1,005,953.36 1,005,953.36 0.00 0.00%

CHARTER Capital SALES TAX     795     1,140,000.00 1,140,000.00 380,081.56 33.34%

102,289,310.06 102,701,829.80 24,758,912.59 24.11%

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS FUNDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUE, EXPENDITURES, AND TRANSFERS
07/01/2025  thru 11/30/2025

REVENUE AND TRANSFERS
State Sources   

Acct #

Total  State Sources   

Local Sources   
Acct #

Total  Local Sources   

Total REVENUE AND TRANSFERS

Total  Fund Balance July 1, 2025

GRAND TOTAL

EXPENDITURES

Acct #

Total  Debt Service                  

Acct #

Total  General Support Srvc          

Transfer Of Funds             

General Support Srvc          

Page 82 of 268

DRAFT



District Summary Amended Expended % OF EXP
Budget Budget

Transfer To General Fund      910     10,769,980.00 12,138,753.23 342,781.00 2.82%

Transfers To Debt Service Fund 920     6,222,559.42 6,222,559.42 0.00 0.00%

16,992,539.42 18,361,312.65 342,781.00

119,595,136.22 121,063,909.19 25,101,693.59 20.73%

District Amended Cash
Summary Budget Received
Budget

Fund Balance, July 1, 2025 7/1/2025 58,518,315.76 58,518,315.76 58,518,315.76

Fund Balance Contribution 6/30/2026 (56,213,424.22) (56,300,424.19) (12,709,958.72)

Projected Ending Fund Balance 6/30/2026 2,304,891.54 2,217,891.57 45,808,357.04

GRAND TOTAL 121,900,027.76 123,281,800.76

Fund Balance    
Acct #

Acct #

Total  Transfer Of Funds             

Total EXPENDITURES

Page 83 of 268

DRAFT



District Amended % OF
Budget Budget COLL

School Lunch Reimbursement    3261    12,431,765.50 12,431,765.50 4,575,353.20 36.80%

School Breakfast Reimbursement 3262    3,006,300.00 3,006,300.00 612,197.88 20.36%

After School Snack Reimb      3263    0.00 0.00 2,589.30 N/A

U  S  D  A   Donated Commoditi 3265    1,600,000.00 0.00 0.00 N/A

Cash in Lieu of Donated Foods 3266    0.00 0.00 0.00 N/A

Summer Food Service Program   3267    100,000.00 100,000.00 78,624.04 78.62%

17,138,065.50 15,538,065.50 5,268,764.42 33.91%

District Amended % OF
Budget Budget COLL

Sale Of Equipment             3733    0.00 0.00 35,000.00 0.00%

0.00 0.00 35,000.00

District Amended % OF
Budget Budget COLL

Interest  Incl Profit On Inves 3430    150,000.00 150,000.00 79,214.86 52.81%

Gifts   Grants & Bequests     3440    0.00 0.00 0.00 N/A

Student Lunches               3451    2,767,750.00 2,767,750.00 1,087,925.40 39.31%

Student Breakfasts            3452    338,750.00 338,750.00 110,605.10 32.65%

Adult Breakfasts/Lunches      3453    130,000.00 130,000.00 527.75 0.41%

Student A La Carte            3454    2,000,000.00 2,000,000.00 870,018.47 43.50%

Miscellaneous Local Sources   3490    5,000.00 5,000.00 2,302.16 46.04%

5,391,500.00 5,391,500.00 2,150,593.74 39.89%

District Amended % OF
Budget Budget COLL

School Breakfast Supplement   3337    60,000.00 60,000.00 0.00 N/A

School Lunch Supplement       3338    85,000.00 85,000.00 0.00 N/A

145,000.00 145,000.00 0.00

22,674,565.50 21,074,565.50 7,454,358.16 35.37%

Fund Balance July 1,2025 9,183,583.77 9,183,583.77 9,183,583.77

31,858,149.27 30,258,149.27 16,637,941.93 54.99%

District Amended % OF EXP
Budget Budget

Administrator   110     2,145,285.03 2,145,285.03 783,005.77 36.50%

Other Support   160     5,212,709.15 5,212,709.15 2,182,570.83 41.87%

Retirement      210     1,071,664.41 1,071,664.41 426,363.15 39.79%

Social Security 220     560,118.50 560,118.50 220,400.43 39.35%

Group Insurance 230     1,101,493.00 1,101,493.00 407,384.62 36.98%

Workmans Comp   240     57,281.88 57,281.88 43,137.59 75.31%

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS - FOOD SERVICES

STATEMENT OF REVENUE, EXPENDITURES, AND TRANSFERS
07/01/2025  thru 11/30/2025

REVENUE AND TRANSFERS
Fed through Local and State   

ACCT# Cash Received

ACCT# Cash Received

Total Fed through Local and State   

Other Financing Sources       

Total Other Financing Sources       

Rev from Local Sources        

ACCT# Cash Received

Total Rev from Local Sources        

Rev from State Sources        

ACCT# Cash Received

Total Rev from State Sources        

TOTAL REVENUE AND TRANSFERS

GRAND TOTAL

EXPENDITURES

ACCT# Expended

Page 84 of 268

DRAFT



Pro & Tech Serv 310     0.00 0.00 5,800.00 #DIV/0!

Prof Srvcs - Su 313     100,500.00 100,500.00 25,391.84 25.27%

Travel-In cnty  331     6,500.00 6,500.00 346.99 5.34%

Travel-Out Cnty 332     2,500.00 2,500.00 190.13 7.61%

Trvl-Out State  333     2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 0.00%

Travel-Reg Fees 334     500.00 500.00 245.00 49.00%

Repairs And Mai 350     26,010.00 26,010.00 2,915.98 11.21%

Rentals         360     5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 0.00%

Leases          367     4,000.00 4,000.00 972.08 24.30%

Tech Rentals    369     44,000.00 44,000.00 42,205.51 95.92%

Stamps          371     15,000.00 15,000.00 9,250.00 61.67%

Cell Phones     378     1,500.00 1,500.00 299.52 19.97%

Othr Purch Srvc 390     85,741.99 85,741.99 24,021.53 28.02%

Printing        391     15,000.00 15,000.00 4,720.05 31.47%

Bottled Gas     420     4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00 0.00%

Electricity     430     181,400.00 181,400.00 29,568.18 16.30%

Gasoline        450     9,000.00 9,000.00 4,101.92 45.58%

Diesel Fuel     460     4,000.00 4,000.00 712.30 17.81%

Supplies        510     735,430.21 735,430.21 296,501.07 40.32%

TonerType Fee   515     17,292.05 17,292.05 2,110.26 12.20%

Tech Supplies   519     800.00 800.00 119.85 14.98%

Oil & Grease    540     1,000.00 1,000.00 40.16 4.02%

Repair Parts    550     3,500.00 3,500.00 1,635.54 46.73%

Tires & Tubes   560     2,000.00 2,000.00 807.88 40.39%

Food            570     9,212,058.33 9,212,058.33 3,654,805.73 39.67%

Commodities     580     1,600,000.00 1,600,000.00 0.00 0.00%

AV Mat L/T $1000 622     500.00 500.00 0.00 0.00%

Equip $1000 Over 641     150,000.00 150,000.00 12,668.60 8.45%

Equip L/T $1000 642     10,000.00 10,000.00 7,395.88 73.96%

Comp Hdw > $1000 643     5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 0.00%

Cptr Hdwr <$1000 644     50,000.00 50,000.00 8,108.80 16.22%

TechRel FFE<1000 649     100.00 100.00 0.00 0.00%

Cap Remodlg     681     251,545.00 251,545.00 101,545.00 40.37%

Dues And Fees   730     30,196.00 30,196.00 30,950.33 102.50%

Misc Expense    790     500,000.00 500,000.00 0.00 0.00%

23,225,125.55 23,225,125.55 8,330,292.52 35.87%

District Amended
Budget Budget

Fund Balance, July 1, 2025 9,183,583.77 9,183,583.77 9,183,583.77

Fund Balance Contribution 6/30/2026 (550,560.05) (2,150,560.05) (875,934.36)

Projected Ending Fund Balance 6/30/2026 8,633,023.72 7,033,023.72 8,307,649.41

31,858,149.27 30,258,149.27

Fund Balance                  

ACCT# Cash Received

GRAND TOTAL

Total 

Page 85 of 268

DRAFT



Acct# District Amended Cash % OF COLL
Summary Budget Received
Budget

Career And Technical Education 3201    367,631.46 367,631.00 37,662.46 10.24%

Adult General Education       3221    451,859.09 451,859.00 324.21 0.07%

English Literacy And Civics Ed 3222    38,958.00 38,958.00 0.00 0.00%

Title II                      3226    5,945.00 1,059,289.00 0.00 0.00%

I  D  E  A                    3230    9,739,772.86 9,979,781.00 33,495.34 0.34%

Title I - Elem & Secondary Edu 3240    5,919,585.58 5,968,593.00 21,126.21 0.35%

Title III                     3241    7,585.88 7,585.88 0.00 0.00%

Title IV                      3242    309,711.02 461,749.00 0.00 0.00%

Other Federal Thru State      3290    172,904.83 172,905.00 0.00 0.00%

17,013,953.72 18,508,350.88 92,608.22 0.50%
Transfers                     Transfer From General Fund    3610    875,738.96 473,256.45 0.00 0.00%

875,738.96 473,256.45 0.00 0.00%
Total Revenues and Transfer 17,889,692.68 18,981,607.33 92,608.22

Fund Balance, July 1, 2025 7/1/2025 0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00

17,889,692.68 18,981,607.33 92,608.22

Fed through Local and State   

Fed through Local and State    - Total

Transfers                      - Total

Fund Balance                   - Total
GRAND Total

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS - OTHER

STATEMENT OF REVENUE
07/01/2025  thru 11/30/2025

               

Page 86 of 268

DRAFT



District Amended Emp Pur Eng Mat Cap Other % OF
Summary Budget Benefits Services Services Supplies Outlay Transfers Budget
Budget

Basic FEFP K-12               5100 5,619,651.37 5,117,024.41 979,243.44 361,373.10 198,959.83 0.00 61,579.23 179,480.37 10,487.50 1,791,123.47 35.00%

Exceptional                   5200 5,172,638.93 5,546,642.04 1,379,084.75 497,490.83 40,653.65 0.00 1,423.95 8,824.75 0.00 1,927,477.93 34.75%

Applied Technology            5300 321,682.46 321,682.46 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 9,307.23 68,748.02 8,100.00 86,155.25 26.78%

Adult General                 5400 289,460.09 289,460.09 51,339.36 18,291.09 0.00 0.00 64.23 0.00 2,000.00 71,694.68 24.77%

Other Instruction             5900 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00%

11,403,432.85 11,274,809.00 2,409,667.55 877,155.02 239,613.48 0.00 72,374.64 257,053.14 20,587.50 3,876,451.33 34.38%

District Amended Emp Pur Eng Mat Cap Other % OF
Summary Budget Benefits Services Services Supplies Outlay Transfers Budget
Budget

Pupil Personnel Services      6100 1,795,915.54 1,815,145.00 476,472.65 164,950.72 58,153.93 0.00 17,022.80 0.00 0.00 716,600.10 39.48%

Inst   & Curric   Dev Services 6300 3,514,658.00 3,525,392.00 795,766.80 265,302.03 1,953.45 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,412.50 1,065,434.78 30.22%

Inst   Staff Training Services 6400 1,113,207.51 1,980,879.00 363,608.98 100,935.80 91,790.36 0.00 5,986.86 7,438.60 1,582.00 571,342.60 28.84%

General Administration        7200 27,610.43 322,032.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 104,299.17 104,299.17 32.39%

Central Services              7700 1,374.00 29,892.00 4,387.50 397.18 1,374.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 6,158.68 20.60%

Pupil Transportation Services 7800 33,494.35 33,494.00 0.00 0.00 2,117.18 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,117.18 6.32%

6,486,259.83 7,706,834.00 1,640,235.93 531,585.73 155,388.92 0.00 23,009.66 7,438.60 108,293.67 2,465,952.51 32.00%

Grand Total Expenses 17,889,692.68 18,981,643.00 4,049,903.48 1,408,740.75 395,002.4 0.00 95,384.3 264,491.74 128,881.17 6,342,403.84 33.41%

Beginning Fund Balance 7/1/2025 0.00 0.00 0.00

Fund Balance Contribution 6/30/2026 0.00 0.00

Projected Ending Fund Balance 6/30/2025 0.00 0.00 (6,249,795.62)

Grand Total 17,889,692.68 18,981,643.00

Total Expenses for - 6000-9999

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS - OTHER

STATEMENT OF EXPENDITURES AND TRANSFERS
07/01/2025  thru 11/30/2025

Acct# Salaried Totals

Total Expense for 5000

Acct# Salaried Totals

Page 87 of 268

DRAFT



District Amended Cash % OF
Budget Budget Received COLL
Summary

Interest  Incl Profit On Inves 3430    150,000.00 150,000.00 39,723.74 26.48%

Operating Revenue             3481    3,200,000.00 3,200,000.00 866,228.94 0.00%

Operating Revenue             3489    3,200.00 3,200.00 108,426.74 3,388.34%

Misc Local Resources          3497    0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00%

3,353,200.00 3,353,200.00 1,014,379.42 30.25%

3,353,200.00 3,353,200.00 1,014,379.42 30.25%

Total Fund Balance July 1, 2025 776,218.58 776,218.58 776,218.58

GRAND TOTAL 4,129,418.58 4,129,418.58 1,790,598.00

District Amended Expended % OF
Budget Budget EXP
Summary

Ins  & Bond Prem 320 521,345.00 0.00 0.00 0.00%

Liability Insurance 321 750,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00%

Pro & Tech Serv 310 175,501.50 0.00 25,501.50 0.00%

Workmans Comp 240 1,600,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00%

Admin Fees      774     0.00 175,501.50 44,247.37 25.21%

Claims Exp      770     0.00 1,600,000.00 393,382.81 24.59%

Excess Insurance 772     0.00 521,345.00 3,329.00 0.64%

Liability Exp   771     0.00 750,000.00 455,572.26 60.74%

Total Internal Service Proprietary  3,046,846.50 3,046,846.50 922,032.94 30.26%

District Amended Cash
Budget Budget Received
Summary

Fund Balance, July 1, 2025 7/1/2025 776,218.58 776,218.58 776,218.58

Fund Balance Contribution 6/30/2026 306,353.50 306,353.50 92,346.48

Projected Ending Fund Balance 6/30/2026 1,082,572.08 1,082,572.08 868,565.06

4,129,418.58 4,129,418.58

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD
PROPERTY AND CASUALTY SPECIAL INSURANCE FUND 711

STATEMENT OF REVENUE, EXPENDITURES, AND TRANSFERS
07/01/2025  thru 11/30/2025

Local Sources   
ACCT#

ACCT#

GRAND TOTAL

Local Sources    - Total

Total REVENUE AND TRANSFERS

EXPENDITURES

ACCT#

Fund Balance    

Page 88 of 268

DRAFT



District Amended Cash % OF
Budget Budget Received COLL
Summary

Interest  Incl Profit On Inves 3430    40,000.00 40,000.00 11,835.88 29.59%

Operating Revenue             3481    36,500,000.00 36,500,000.00 10,473,552.68 28.69%

Operating Revenue             3489    5,000,000.00 5,000,000.00 1,582,608.33 31.65%

Misc Local Resources          3495    200,000.00 200,000.00 364,455.21 182.23%

Misc Local Resources          3497    0.00 0.00 73,060.55 0.00%

41,740,000.00 41,740,000.00 12,505,512.65 29.96%

41,740,000.00 41,740,000.00 12,505,512.65 29.96%

Fund Balance July 1,2025 5,446,056.19 5,446,056.19 5,446,056.19

GRAND TOTAL 47,186,056.19 47,186,056.19 17,951,568.84

District Amended Expended % OF
Budget Budget EXP
Summary

Administrator   110     75,688.84 75,688.84 32,642.40 43.13%

Other Support   160     36,699.00 36,699.00 8,714.64 23.75%

Retirement      210     15,412.35 15,412.35 5,802.38 37.65%

Social Security 220     8,403.75 8,403.75 3,113.88 37.05%

Group Insurance 230     16,859.00 16,859.00 2,570.16 15.25%

Workmans Comp   240     0.00 0.00 603.70 0.00%

Pro & Tech Serv 310     2,641,911.00 152,000.00 31,302.00 20.59%

Ins & Bond Prem 320 1,800,000.00 0.00 0.00 N/A

Medical Insur Cl 322 22,800,000.00 0.00 0.00 N/A

Pharmacy Prescrip 323 12,700,000.00 0.00 0.00 N/A

Travel-Out Cnty 332     2,000.00 2,000.00 1,653.55 82.68%

Travel-Reg Fees 334     2,000.00 2,000.00 1,125.00 56.25%

Repairs And Mai 350     500.00 500.00 0.00 0.00%

Unassigned MultiYr TechRental 366 0.00 6,600.00 0.00 0.00%

Stamps          371     3,600.00 4,985.18 4,985.18 100.00%

Cell Phones     378     500.00 500.00 149.76 29.95%

Othr Purch Srvc 390     77,000.00 28,722.99 14,182.70 49.38%

Printing        391     100.00 100.00 0.00 0.00%

Gasoline        450     1,000.00 1,000.00 301.05 30.11%

Supplies        510     9,300.00 13,500.00 20,932.56 155.06%

Tech Supplies   519     0.00 172.70 172.70 100.00%

Equip $1000 Over 641     0.00 26,335.85 0.00 0.00%

Equip L/T $1000 642     1,000.00 6,715.26 1,984.96 29.56%

Comp Hdw > $1000 643     0.00 4,358.80 4,238.80 97.25%

Cptr Hdwr <$1000 644     0.00 564.86 564.86 100.00%

Tech Rel FFE < $1000 649 0.00 329.54 0.00 0.00%

Dues And Fees   730     825.00 825.00 32,132.21 3,894.81%

Claims Exp      770     0.00 22,798,614.82 10,705,213.45 46.96%

Excess Insurance 772     0.00 1,800,000.00 924,703.13 51.37%

Pharmacy Claims 773     0.00 12,700,000.00 5,784,894.21 45.55%

Admin Fees      774 0.00 2,489,911.00 1,298,009.29 52.13%

Total General Support Srvc          40,192,798.94 40,192,798.94 18,879,992.57 46.97%

Total Internal Service Proprietary  40,192,798.94 40,192,798.94 18,879,992.57 46.97%

District Budget Amended Cash
Summary Budget Received

Fund Balance, July 1, 2025 7/1/2025 5,446,056.19 5,446,056.19 5,446,056.17

Fund Balance Contribution 6/30/2026 1,547,201.06 1,547,201.06 (6,374,479.92)

Projected Ending Fund Balance 6/30/2026 6,993,257.25 6,993,257.25 (928,423.75)

47,186,056.19 47,186,056.19

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD
HEALTH SELF INSURANCE FUND 712

STATEMENT OF REVENUE, EXPENDITURES, AND TRANSFERS
07/01/2025  thru 11/30/2025

Local Sources   
ACCT#

ACCT#

GRAND TOTAL

3400     - Total

Total REVENUE AND TRANSFERS

EXPENDITURES
ACCT#

Fund Balance    

Page 89 of 268

DRAFT



$50,000 - $100,000 Contracts "Signed" by Superintendent for BAD monthly BOARD Financial Report
All applicable Contracts prior to Contract #260060 have been added to the list. 

CONTRACT # SUBMITTED BY DEPT COST PO # VENDOR FUNDING SOURCE FUNDING SOURCE

260057 B Ellis 9020 Varies Multiple
Consent to Assignment to MSA Professional Services, Inc. from Haddad 
Engineering, Inc.

Facility & Operation Funds Varies

260038 M Moree 9004 $90,000.00 P2604711 Clay Behavioral Health Center - SAP Services General Fund - Mental Health Categorical 100-6100310-9004-1175-0000-000-0

260054 K Guilfoyle 9004 $75,000.00 P2602343
PsychoEducational Consultant Group, PL
(was Faye Nussbaum (Psych Tester) CR# 260004)

General Fund - Mental Health Categorical 100-6100310-9004-1175-0000-000-0

250198 K Mosley 9002 $68,604.00 P2603272
Agreement County for Clay County Fire Rescue (CCFR) Adjunt Teacher 
for CTE OPHS EMR/Fire Fighting Teacher 25/26

General Fund - CTE Industry Cert. 100-5300310-9002-1991-0000-000-0

Page 90 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C8 - BUDGET AMENDMENT REPORT FOR November 30, 2025

Description
Florida State Board of Education Administrative Rule 6A-1.006 requires that the School Board approve amendments to the
district school budget whenever the function and object amounts in the accounts prescribed by the State Board form are changed
from the original budget approved by the School Board.  The Budget Amendments are procedurally necessary to update our
budget to reflect changes as outlined in the attached statements.

Gap Analysis
The monthly budget amendment show compliance to the district's amended budget as of the month end reported and meet State
and School Board financial reporting requirements.

Previous Outcomes
Reported as per Florida State Board of Education Administrative Rule 6A-1.006.

Expected Outcomes
The monthly budget amendment is provided to meet the stewardship responsibilities of the district for reporting and
accountability of the district's budget.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 5: Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available
resources necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Approval of the Budget Amendments for November 2025 as presented.

Contact
Dawn Posey, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs

Financial Impact
See attached statements for a complete analysis of the financial impact.

Review Comments

Attachments

November 2025 Budget Amendment Stmt.pdf

Page 91 of 268

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/november-2025-budget-amendment-stmt.pdf


 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOLS RESOLUTION TO AMEND DISTRICT BUDGET 
FISCAL YEAR 2025-2026 

For month ending November 30, 2025 
 

Florida State Board of Education Administrative Rule 6A-1.006 requires that the School Board 
approve amendments to the district school budget whenever the function and object amounts in 
the accounts prescribed by the State Board form are changed from the original budget approved by 
the School Board. The Budget Amendments are procedurally necessary to update our budget to 
reflect changes outlined in the attached statements. 
 

FUND DESCRIPTION 

GENERAL FUND (100) THE GENERAL FUND IS THE LARGEST FUND WITHIN 
THE ACCOUNTING STRUCTURE OF THE SCHOOL 
DISTRICT. THIS FUND IS USED TO REPORT THE 
DISTRICT’S DAILY, MONTHLY AND ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL OPERATIONS OF THE SCHOOLS AND 
DISTRICT OFFICE. 

GENERAL FUND VOTED MILLAGE 
(105) 

THE VOTED MILLAGE FUND ARE FUNDS APPROVED 
BY THE CLAY COUNTY VOTERS TO SUPPORT SAFETY 
AND SECURITY AND OTHER OPERATIONAL 
EXPENDITURES. 

DEBT SERVICE (2XX) DEBT SERVICE FUNDS ARE USED TO ACCOUNT FOR 
AND REPORT FINANCIAL RESOURCES THAT ARE 
RESTRICTED, COMMITTED, OR ASSIGNED TO 
EXPENDITURES FOR THE DISTRICT’S PRINCIPAL AND 
INTEREST PAYMENTS FOR ITS OUTSTANDING DEBT. 

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND(3XX) CAPITAL PROJECT FUNDS ARE USED TO ACCOUNT 
FOR AND REPORT FINANCIAL RESOURCES THAT ARE 
RESTRICTED, COMMITTED, OR ASSIGNED TO 
EXPENDITURES FOR MAJOR CAPITAL OUTLAYS, 
INCLUDING THE ACQUISITION OR CONSTRUCTION OF 
CAPITAL FACILITIES AND THEIR CAPITAL ASSETS. 

SPECIAL REVENUE FOOD SERVICE 
(410) 

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS, FOOD SERVICES ARE 
USED TO ACCOUNT FOR AND REPORT THE 
PROCEEDS OF SPECIFIC REVENUE SOURCES THAT 
ARE RESTRICTED OR COMMITTED TO EXPENDITURES 
FOR THE FOOD SERVICES OPERATIONS. 

SPECIAL REVENUE OTHER (420,44X) SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS, OTHER ARE USED TO 
ACCOUNT FOR AND REPORT THE PROCEEDS OF 
SPECIFIC FEDERAL REVENUE SUCH AS TITLE I, TITLE 
II, TITLE III, CARES ACT FUNDING THAT ARE 
RESTRICTED OR COMMITTED TO EXPENDITURES FOR 
THE SPECIFIC PROGRAM. 

 
 

Page 92 of 268

DRAFT



CLAY COUNTY SCHOOLS 

SCHOOL BOARD MEETING ​AGENDA 

Item Backup 

 

November 2025 Impact Statement 

Purpose of Impact Statement 

To reflect monthly adjustments to school and district budgets and related impact on fund balance 
due to: 

a.​ Increases/decreases in estimated revenue. 
b.​ Adjustments to appropriations based on changing needs and new information. 

 
FUND CHANGE TO FUND BALANCE 

GENERAL FUND (100) Decrease of $47,369 

GENERAL FUND VOTED MILLAGE 
(105) 

No change 

DEBT SERVICE (2XX) No change 

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND(3XX) No change 

SPECIAL REVENUE FOOD SERVICE 
(410) 

No change 

SPECIAL REVENUE OTHER (420, 44X) No change 

 
 

 

Page 93 of 268

DRAFT



CLAY COUNTY SCHOOLS 

SCHOOL BOARD MEETING ​AGENDA 

Item Backup 

 

GENERAL FUND 100: 

To reflect monthly adjustments to the General Fund and related impact on fund balance due to: 
 
Increases to Estimated Revenue 

1 Increase in Gifts, Grants and Bequests 
Due to receipt of hospitality funds 

$2,9503 

2 Increase in Misc. Local Resources 
Due to receipt of Internal Accounts Funds 

$96,455 

   

 Total Adjustments to Estimated Revenue $99,405 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 94 of 268

DRAFT



CLAY COUNTY SCHOOLS 

SCHOOL BOARD MEETING ​AGENDA 

Item Backup 

 

Increases and/or Decreases to Appropriations 

1 Increase in Instruction 
Based on changing school needs; addition of CTE 
Ducks Unlimited Subscription 

$36,240 

2 Increase in Pupil Personnel 
Based on changing school needs; addition of Clay 
Behavior Mental Health Contract 

$540 

3 Increase in Instructional Media 
Due to school/department transfers for books 

$12,019 

4 Decrease in Curriculum Development 
Due to school/department transfers 

($4,306) 

5 Increase in Instructional Staff Training 
Due to school/department transfers 

$9,734 

6 Increase in School Admin 
Due to school/department transfers for P-card 
reconciliation and misc expenses 

$14,756 

7 Increase in Facilities Acquisition & Construction 
Due to school/department transfers for AICE and misc 
expenses 

$15,699 

8 Increase in Central Services 
Due to school/department transfers 

$5,100 

9 Increase in Pupil Transportation 
Due to school/department transfers and CTE rentals 

$29,386 

10 Increase in Operation of Plant 
Due to school/department transfers 

$16,386 

11 Increase in Community Service 
Due to school/department transfers and receipt of 
Internal Accounts Funds 

$10,220 

   

 Total Adjustments to Appropriations: $146,774 

 
Adjustments to appropriations are based on changing revenue, needs and new information. 

The impact on the General Fund Balance for the items described above is a decrease to fund 
balance of $47,369.  

Page 95 of 268

DRAFT



CLAY COUNTY SCHOOLS 

SCHOOL BOARD MEETING ​AGENDA 

Item Backup 

 

ONE MILL FUND 105: 

To reflect monthly adjustments to One Mill Fund and related impact on fund balance due to: 
 
Increases to Estimated Revenue 

1 No Adjustments $0 
   

 Total Adjustments to Estimated Revenue $0 

 
 
 
 
Increases and/or Decreases to Appropriations 

1 No Adjustments $0 

   

 Total Adjustments to Appropriations: $0 

 
Adjustments to appropriations are based on changing revenue, needs and new information. 

The impact on the General Fund Balance for the items described above is no change to fund 
balance.  

Page 96 of 268

DRAFT



CLAY COUNTY SCHOOLS 

SCHOOL BOARD MEETING ​AGENDA 

Item Backup 

 

DEBT SERVICE FUNDS (2XX): 

To reflect monthly adjustments to debt service budgets and related impact on fund balance due to: 
 
Increases to Estimated Revenue 

1 No Adjustments  $0 
   

 Total Adjustments to Estimated Revenue $0 

 
 
 
 
Increases and/or Decreases to Appropriations 

1 No Adjustments $0 

   

 Total Adjustments to Appropriations: $0 

 
Adjustments to appropriations are based on changing revenue, needs and new information. 

The impact on the General Fund Balance for the items described above is no change to fund 
balance.  

Page 97 of 268

DRAFT



CLAY COUNTY SCHOOLS 

SCHOOL BOARD MEETING ​AGENDA 

Item Backup 

 

 
CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS (3XX): 

To reflect adjustments to major capital construction projects budgets and related impact on fund 
balance due to: 
 
Increases to Estimated Revenue 

1 No Adjustments  $0 
   

 Total Adjustments to Estimated Revenue $0 

 
 
 
 
Increases and/or Decreases to Appropriations 

1 No Adjustments $0 

   

 Total Adjustments to Appropriations: $0 

 
Adjustments to appropriations are based on changing revenue, needs and new information. 

The impact on the General Fund Balance for the items described above is no change to fund 
balance.  

Page 98 of 268

DRAFT



CLAY COUNTY SCHOOLS 

SCHOOL BOARD MEETING ​AGENDA 

Item Backup 

 

 
SCHOOL FOOD SERVICES (410): 

To reflect monthly adjustments to school and district Food Services program budgets and related 
impact on fund balance due to: 
 
Increases to Estimated Revenue 

1 No Adjustments  $0 
   

 Total Adjustments to Estimated Revenue $0 

 
 
 
 
Increases and/or Decreases to Appropriations 

1 No Adjustments  $0 

   

 Total Adjustments to Appropriations: $0 

 
Adjustments to appropriations are based on changing revenue, needs and new information. 

The impact on the fund balance for the items described above is no change to fund balance. 
 

Page 99 of 268

DRAFT



CLAY COUNTY SCHOOLS 

SCHOOL BOARD MEETING ​AGENDA 

Item Backup 

 

SPECIAL REVENUE OTHER (42X): 

To reflect monthly adjustments to school and district budgets and related impact on fund balance 
due to: 
 
Increases to Estimated Revenue 

1 Increase in Title III 
Award of Title III - Immigrant/Youth Grant 

$40,860 

   

 Total Adjustments to Estimated Revenue $40,860 

 
 
 
 
Increases and/or Decreases to Appropriations 

1 Increase in Instructional 
Due to award of Title III - Immigrant/Youth Grant 

$14,386 

4 Increase in Parent Involvement 
Due to award of Title III - Immigrant/Youth Grant 

$2,709 

5 Increase in Curriculum Development 
Due to award of Title III - Immigrant/Youth Grant 

$818 

6 Increase in Instructional Staff Training 
Due to award of Title III - Immigrant/Youth Grant 

$21,426 

7 Increase in General Administration 
Due to award of Title III - Immigrant/Youth Grant 

$1,521 

   

 Total Adjustments to Appropriations: $40,860 

 
Adjustments to appropriations are based on changing revenue, needs and new information. 

The impact on the fund balance for the items described above is no change to fund balance. 
 

Page 100 of 268

DRAFT



SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY 
RESOLUTION TO AMEND DISTRICT BUDGET 

FISCAL YEAR 2025-2026
GENERAL FUND REVENUE

FUND 100
Month Ending November 30, 2025

Function Description Adopted Beginning Budget Adj Working
Budget Budget

3120    Federal Impact Funds          
3190    Other Federal Direct          
3202    Medicaid                      
3280    Federal Through Local Revenue 
3290    Other Federal Thru State      
3310    Florida Educ Finance Program  
3315    Workforce Development         
3316    Workforce Dev CAP Grant       
3317    Workforce Performance Incentiv
3320    State Auto License CO and DS  
3340    Other State Revenues          
3350    Other Categorical             
3360    School Recognition            
3370    VPK                           
3390    Miscellaneous State Revenues  
3410    Taxes                         
3421    Tax Redemptions               
3425    Rent                          
3430    Interest  Incl Profit On Inves
3440    Gifts   Grants & Bequests     
3460    Student Fees                  
3470    Other  Fees                   
3490    Misc Local Resources          
3630    Transfer From Capital Projects
3650    Interfund Transfer            
3732    Addtnl Mill Contribution      
3733    Sale of Capital Asset         
3740    Insurance Loss Recoveries     

$550,000 $550,000 $0 $550,000
$500,000 $506,284 $0 $506,284

$2,000,000 $2,000,000 $0 $2,000,000
$0 $219,334 $0 $219,334
$0 $4,933 $0 $4,933

$227,520,714 $227,520,714 $0 $227,520,714
$1,100,000 $1,100,000 $0 $1,100,000
$3,956,156 $3,956,156 $0 $3,956,156

$10,000 $10,000 $0 $10,000
$24,000 $24,000 $0 $24,000
$35,000 $35,000 $0 $35,000

$36,766,787 $36,766,787 $0 $36,766,787
$0 $0 $0 $0

$560,000 $560,000 $0 $560,000
$1,814,592 $1,960,833 $0 $1,960,833

$79,306,622 $79,306,622 $0 $79,306,622
$1,000,000 $1,000,000 $0 $1,000,000

$500,000 $500,000 $0 $500,000
$2,000,000 $2,000,000 $0 $2,000,000

$100,000 $146,467 $2,950 $149,417
$49,686 $51,103 $0 $51,103

$530,000 $530,000 $0 $530,000
$4,596,419 $4,735,870 $96,455 $4,832,324

$10,769,980 $12,138,753 $0 $12,138,753
$2,000,000 $2,000,000 $0 $2,000,000

$0 $0 $0 $0
$50,000 $50,000 $0 $50,000

$5,000 $5,000 $0 $5,000
Revenue - Totals $375,744,956 $377,677,856 $99,405 $377,777,260

Page 101 of 268

DRAFT



SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY 
RESOLUTION TO AMEND DISTRICT BUDGET 

FISCAL YEAR 2025-2026
GENERAL FUND EXPENSES    

FUND 100
Month Ending November 30, 2025

 - 

5000              Instruction
Function Description Adopted Beginning Budget Adj Working

Budget Budget

Function Description Adopted Beginning Budget Adj Working
Budget Budget

100     
200     
300     
400     
500     
600     
700     

100     
200     
300     
400     
500     
600     
700     

200     
300     

100     
200     

100     
200     
300     
500     

300     

100     
200     
300     
500     
600     
700     

100     
200     

100     

Salaries                      $148,148,157 $148,183,619 $0 $148,183,619
Employee Benefits             $47,531,398 $47,554,349 $0 $47,554,349
Purchased Services            $30,758,458 $31,002,353 $51,572 $31,053,925

Energy Services               $20,136 $20,486 $0 $20,486
Material and Supplies         $12,480,367 $13,327,205 ($204,174) $13,123,031

Capital Outlay                $2,542,700 $2,803,626 $109,915 $2,913,541
Other                         $1,303,195 $1,384,327 $78,928 $1,463,255

Salaries                      $13,763,372 $13,768,699 $0 $13,768,699
Employee Benefits             $5,173,609 $5,195,171 $0 $5,195,171
Purchased Services            $605,992 $601,485 $253,496 $854,981

Energy Services               $4,400 $4,400 $0 $4,400
Material and Supplies         $4,220,133 $3,893,589 ($252,976) $3,640,613

Capital Outlay                $9,866 $26,282 $20 $26,302
Other                         $1,720 $33,026 $0 $33,026

Employee Benefits             $0 $0 $0 $0
Purchased Services            $0 $0 $0 $0

Salaries                      $0 $0 $0 $0
Employee Benefits             $0 $0 $0 $0

Salaries                      $0 $0 $0 $0
Employee Benefits             $0 $0 $0 $0
Purchased Services            $381,320 $381,320 $0 $381,320
Material and Supplies         $0 $0 $0 $0

Purchased Services            $0 $0 $0 $0

Salaries                      $61,535 $61,535 $0 $61,535
Employee Benefits             $22,998 $22,998 $0 $22,998
Purchased Services            $18,425 $18,425 $0 $18,425
Material and Supplies         $4,240 $4,240 $0 $4,240

Capital Outlay                $0 $0 $0 $0
Other                         $0 $0 $0 $0

Salaries                      $63,804 $63,804 $0 $63,804
Employee Benefits             $29,433 $29,433 $0 $29,433

Salaries                      $2,772,784 $2,772,979 $0 $2,772,979

Total Expenses Function 5000 $242,784,411 $244,275,965 $36,240 $244,312,205

6100    Pupil Personnel Services

6110    Social Work

6120    Guidance Services

6130    Health Services

6140    Psychological Services

6150    Parent Involvement

6190    Guidance Administration

6200    Instructional Media

Page 102 of 268

DRAFT



200     
300     
500     
600     
700     

100     
200     
300     
400     
500     
600     
700     

100     
200     
300     
500     
600     
700     

100     
200     
300     
500     
600     
700     

100     
200     
300     
500     
600     
700     

100     
200     
300     
400     
500     
600     
700     

100     
200     
300     
400     
500     
600     
700     

100     
200     

Employee Benefits             $1,078,295 $1,078,295 $0 $1,078,295
Purchased Services            $206,444 $172,474 ($337) $172,137
Material and Supplies         $71,924 $54,235 ($6,047) $48,188

Capital Outlay                $96,222 $152,713 $18,403 $171,116
Other                         $1,194 $844 $0 $844

Salaries                      $4,050,060 $4,196,052 $0 $4,196,052
Employee Benefits             $1,590,062 $1,626,739 $0 $1,626,739
Purchased Services            $73,248 $75,973 ($4,306) $71,667

Energy Services               $560 $560 $0 $560
Material and Supplies         $38,356 $37,618 $0 $37,618

Capital Outlay                $24,553 $25,250 $0 $25,250
Other                         $1,158 $1,158 $0 $1,158

Salaries                      $2,169,704 $2,189,762 $3,500 $2,193,262
Employee Benefits             $781,010 $782,040 $0 $782,040
Purchased Services            $452,877 $505,721 $6,234 $511,955
Material and Supplies         $59,587 $55,118 $0 $55,118

Capital Outlay                $1,895 $1,895 $0 $1,895
Other                         $257,827 $263,552 $0 $263,552

Salaries                      $2,241,299 $2,241,299 $0 $2,241,299
Employee Benefits             $858,122 $858,122 $0 $858,122
Purchased Services            $3,452,237 $3,452,237 $0 $3,452,237
Material and Supplies         $64,054 $64,054 $0 $64,054

Capital Outlay                $184,000 $184,000 $0 $184,000
Other                         $0 $0 $0 $0

Salaries                      $282,457 $282,457 $0 $282,457
Employee Benefits             $224,065 $224,065 $0 $224,065
Purchased Services            $2,053,892 $2,055,140 $0 $2,055,140
Material and Supplies         $4,037 $4,037 $0 $4,037

Capital Outlay                $1,000 $600 $0 $600
Other                         $27,130 $26,282 $0 $26,282

Salaries                      $344,561 $344,561 $0 $344,561
Employee Benefits             $215,819 $215,819 $0 $215,819
Purchased Services            $28,121 $28,121 $0 $28,121

Energy Services               $1,200 $1,200 $0 $1,200
Material and Supplies         $8,904 $8,904 $1,000 $9,904

Capital Outlay                $3,680 $3,680 $0 $3,680
Other                         $26,500 $26,500 $0 $26,500

Salaries                      $13,159,835 $13,159,835 $0 $13,159,835
Employee Benefits             $5,090,430 $5,090,430 $0 $5,090,430
Purchased Services            $69,587 $72,454 $300 $72,754

Energy Services               $0 $0 $0 $0
Material and Supplies         $95,022 $105,623 $10,881 $117,313

Capital Outlay                $37,184 $48,411 $849 $49,260
Other                         $17,940 $21,428 $2,726 $24,153

Salaries                      $1,199,224 $1,199,224 $0 $1,199,224
Employee Benefits             $450,729 $450,729 $0 $450,729

6300    Inst   & Curric   Dev Services

6400    Inst   Staff Training Services

6500    Instruction Related Technology

7100    Board

7200    General Administration

7300    School Administration

7400    Facilities Aquisition & Const

Page 103 of 268

DRAFT



300     
400     
500     
600     
700     

100     
200     
300     
500     
600     
700     

100     
200     

100     
200     
300     
400     
500     
600     
700     

100     
200     
300     
400     
500     
600     
700     

100     
200     
300     
400     
500     
600     
700     

100     
200     
300     
400     
500     
600     
700     

100     
200     
300     
400     
500     

Purchased Services            $1,352,978 $1,352,978 $13,000 $1,365,978
Energy Services               $6,400 $6,400 $0 $6,400

Material and Supplies         $21,870 $21,870 $0 $21,870
Capital Outlay                $2,700,489 $2,718,739 $2,699 $2,721,438

Other                         $1,860 $1,370,633 $0 $1,370,633

Salaries                      $1,342,679 $1,342,679 $0 $1,342,679
Employee Benefits             $518,568 $518,568 $0 $518,568
Purchased Services            $401,521 $401,521 ($1,424) $400,098
Material and Supplies         $17,273 $17,273 $0 $17,273

Capital Outlay                $4,500 $4,500 $1,424 $5,924
Other                         $200 $200 $0 $200

Salaries                      $77,688 $77,871 $0 $77,871
Employee Benefits             $29,631 $29,631 $0 $29,631

Salaries                      $2,255,849 $2,255,849 $5,000 $2,260,849
Employee Benefits             $876,708 $876,708 $0 $876,708
Purchased Services            $704,205 $704,972 ($900) $704,072

Energy Services               $5,298 $6,298 ($500) $5,798
Material and Supplies         $106,835 $106,835 $0 $106,835

Capital Outlay                $398,714 $396,714 $500 $397,214
Other                         $44,960 $45,568 $1,000 $46,568

Salaries                      $8,776,372 $9,351,372 $0 $9,351,372
Employee Benefits             $3,146,740 $3,146,740 $0 $3,146,740
Purchased Services            $722,730 $752,956 $29,386 $782,343

Energy Services               $1,859,938 $1,860,688 $0 $1,860,688
Material and Supplies         $1,211,055 $1,221,055 $10,000 $1,231,055

Capital Outlay                $698,383 $678,383 ($60,000) $618,383
Other                         $10,000 $10,000 $50,000 $60,000

Salaries                      $7,272,837 $7,275,714 $1,316 $7,277,030
Employee Benefits             $2,776,801 $2,776,801 $0 $2,776,801
Purchased Services            $7,028,289 $7,374,096 $12,037 $7,386,133

Energy Services               $6,150,165 $6,150,665 $0 $6,150,665
Material and Supplies         $748,300 $753,703 ($596) $753,107

Capital Outlay                $291,742 $290,138 $3,629 $293,767
Other                         $0 $0 $0 $0

Salaries                      $3,863,055 $3,863,055 $0 $3,863,055
Employee Benefits             $1,409,589 $1,409,589 $0 $1,409,589
Purchased Services            $2,744,865 $2,744,865 $0 $2,744,865

Energy Services               $165,956 $165,956 $0 $165,956
Material and Supplies         $1,461,068 $1,461,068 $0 $1,461,068

Capital Outlay                $190,788 $190,788 $0 $190,788
Other                         $16,100 $16,100 $0 $16,100

Salaries                      $1,168,123 $1,168,123 $0 $1,168,123
Employee Benefits             $438,072 $438,072 $0 $438,072
Purchased Services            $4,880 $4,880 $0 $4,880

Energy Services               $12,000 $12,000 $0 $12,000
Material and Supplies         $10,240 $10,240 $0 $10,240

7500    Fiscal Services

7600    Food Services

7700    Central Services

7800    Pupil Transportation Services

7900    Operation Of Plant

8100    Maintenance Of Plant

8200    Administrative Technology Svcs

Page 104 of 268

DRAFT



600     
700     

100     
200     
300     
500     
600     
700     

700     

100     
200     
300     
400     
500     
600     
700     

Capital Outlay                $2,400 $2,400 $0 $2,400
Other                         $160 $160 $0 $160

Salaries                      $157,637 $172,178 $9,203 $181,380
Employee Benefits             $60,821 $60,821 $0 $60,821
Purchased Services            $0 $195 $0 $195
Material and Supplies         $96,678 $109,371 ($1,402) $107,969

Capital Outlay                $20 $4,132 $2,419 $6,551
Other                         $1,006 $1,006 $0 $1,006

Other                         $0 $0 $0 $0

Salaries                      $0 $0 $0 $0
Employee Benefits             $0 $0 $0 $0
Purchased Services            $0 $0 $0 $0

Energy Services               $0 $0 $0 $0
Material and Supplies         $0 $0 $0 $0

Capital Outlay                $0 $0 $0 $0
Other                         $0 $0 $0 $0

9100    Community Services

9200    Debt Service

9900    Internal Service Proprietary

Total Expenses Function 6000 to 9900 $131,594,667 $133,272,927 $110,534 $134,111,057

Page 105 of 268

DRAFT



SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY 
RESOLUTION TO AMEND DISTRICT BUDGET 

FISCAL YEAR 2025-2026
ONE MILL
FUND 105

Month Ending November 30, 2025
Function Description Adopted  Beginning Budget Adj Working

Budget Budget
3400    Revenue from Local Sources

5100    Basic FEFP K-12

7400    Facilities Aquisition & Const

7700    Central Services

7800    Pupil Transportation Services

7900    Operation Of Plant

8100    Maintenance Of Plant

9700    Transfer Of Funds

000     Revenue $21,040,061 $21,040,061 $0 $21,040,061

100     Salaries                      $0 $0 $0 $0
200     Employee Benefits             $0 $0 $0 $0

300     Purchased Services            $0 $0 $0 $0
500     Material and Supplies         $0 $0 $0 $0
600     Capital Outlay                $6,179,509 $6,179,510 $0 $6,179,510
700     Other                         $1,117,726 $1,117,726 $0 $1,117,726

100     Salaries                      $0 $0 $0 $0
200     Employee Benefits             $0 $0 $0 $0
300     Purchased Services            $12,000 $12,000 $0 $12,000

600     Capital Outlay                $109,737 $109,737 $0 $109,737

100     Salaries                      $1,424,917 $1,424,913 $0 $1,424,913
200     Employee Benefits             $512,827 $512,831 $0 $512,831
300     Purchased Services            $8,223,633 $8,223,633 $0 $8,223,633
400     Energy Services               $10,000 $10,000 $0 $10,000
500     Material and Supplies         $68,740 $68,740 ($6,492) $62,248
600     Capital Outlay                $182,660 $182,660 $0 $182,660
700     Other                         $18,600 $18,600 $6,492 $25,092

100     Salaries                      $156,195 $156,195 $0 $156,195
200     Employee Benefits             $64,739 $64,739 $0 $64,739

900     Transfers                     $2,000,000 $2,000,000 $0 $2,000,000

Total Revenue $21,040,061 $21,040,061 $0 $21,040,061

Total Expenses $20,081,283 $20,081,284 $0 $20,081,284

Page 106 of 268

DRAFT



SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY 
RESOLUTION TO AMEND DISTRICT BUDGET 

FISCAL YEAR 2025-2026
         CAPITAL PROJECTS

FUND 3XX
Month Ending  November 30, 2025

Fund Function Description Obj Description Adopted Beginning Budget Adj Working
Budget Budget

360     3320    State Auto License CO and DS  000     Revenue $1,646,500 $1,646,500 $0 $1,646,500
3430    Interest  Incl Profit On Inves 000     Revenue $0 $0 $0 $0

370     3410    Taxes                         000     Revenue $31,560,212 $31,560,212 $0 $31,560,212
3430    Interest  Incl Profit On Inves 000     Revenue $0 $0 $0 $0

380     3430    Interest  Incl Profit On Inves 000     Revenue $675,000 $675,000 $0 $675,000
3490    Misc Local Resources          000     Revenue $9,500,000 $9,500,000 $0 $9,500,000

392     3430    Interest  Incl Profit On Inves 000     Revenue $0 $0 $0 $0
393     3430    Interest  Incl Profit On Inves 000     Revenue $0 $0 $0 $0
394     3390    Miscellaneous State Revenues  000     Revenue $0 $0 $0 $0

3397    Charter School Capital Outlay 000     Revenue $0 $1,368,773 $0 $1,368,773
3430    Interest  Incl Profit On Inves 000     Revenue $0 $13,000 $0 $13,000

399     3390    Miscellaneous State Revenues  000     Revenue $0 $0 $0 $0

340     7400    Facilities Aquisition & Const 670     Improvements other than Bldg  $0 $0 $0 $0
680     Remodeling and Renovations    $0 $0 $0 $0

360     7400    Facilities Aquisition & Const 630     Buildings and Fixed Equip     $4,026,481 $4,026,481 $0 $4,026,481
640     Furniture Fixtures & Equipment $0 $0 $0 $0
680     Remodeling and Renovations    $0 $0 $0 $0

9200    Debt Service                  730     Dues and Fees                 $0 $0 $0 $0
370     7400    Facilities Aquisition & Const 630     Buildings and Fixed Equip     $127,415 $127,415 $0 $127,415

690     Computer Software             $312,520 $312,520 $0 $312,520
640     Furniture Fixtures & Equipment $890,773 $890,773 $0 $890,773
670     Improvements other than Bldg  $1,558,099 $1,300,030 $0 $1,300,030
720     Interest                      $0 $0 $0 $0
660     Land                          $1,000 $1,000 $0 $1,000
790     Miscellaneous                 $1,005,953 $1,005,953 $0 $1,005,953
650     Motor Vehicles                $6,976,613 $6,976,613 $0 $6,976,613
390     Other Purchased Services      $0 $0 $0 $0
710     Redemption of Principal       $0 $0 $0 $0
680     Remodeling and Renovations    $22,197,299 $22,455,367 $0 $22,455,367

7800    Pupil Transportation Services 650     Motor Vehicles                $0 $0 $0 $0
680     Remodeling and Renovations    $0 $0 $0 $0

7900    Operation Of Plant            680     Remodeling and Renovations    $0 $0 $0 $0
9200    Debt Service                  720     Interest                      $767 $767 $0 $767

710     Redemption of Principal       $0 $0 $0 $0
9700    Transfer Of Funds             920     Transfers to Debt Service Fund $1,615,559 $1,615,559 $0 $1,615,559

910     Transfers to General Fund     $10,769,980 $10,769,980 $0 $10,769,980
380     7400    Facilities Aquisition & Const 630     Buildings and Fixed Equip     $23,655,229 $23,655,229 $0 $23,655,229

690     Computer Software             $0 $0 $0 $0
640     Furniture Fixtures & Equipment $1,033,549 $1,033,549 $0 $1,033,549
670     Improvements other than Bldg  $0 $0 $0 $0
610     Library Books                 $0 $0 $0 $0
680     Remodeling and Renovations    $120,000 $120,000 $0 $120,000

9700    Transfer Of Funds             920     Transfers to Debt Service Fund $4,607,000 $4,607,000 $0 $4,607,000
392     7300    School Administration         640     Furniture Fixtures & Equipment $0 $0 $0 $0

7400    Facilities Aquisition & Const 620     Audiovisual Materials         $0 $0 $0 $0
630     Buildings and Fixed Equip     $0 $0 $0 $0
690     Computer Software             $0 $0 $0 $0
640     Furniture Fixtures & Equipment $0 $0 $0 $0
650     Motor Vehicles                $0 $0 $0 $0
390     Other Purchased Services      $0 $0 $0 $0
680     Remodeling and Renovations    $0 $0 $0 $0
360     Rentals                       $0 $0 $0 $0

7800    Pupil Transportation Services 690     Computer Software             $0 $0 $0 $0
9200    Debt Service                  720     Interest                      $0 $0 $0 $0

710     Redemption of Principal       $0 $0 $0 $0
393     7400    Facilities Aquisition & Const 630     Buildings and Fixed Equip     $5,436,686 $5,436,686 $0 $5,436,686

680     Remodeling and Renovations    $0 $0 $0 $0
394     9700    Transfer Of Funds             910     Transfers to General Fund     $0 $1,368,773 $0 $1,368,773
395     7400    Facilities Aquisition & Const 670     Improvements other than Bldg  $255,398 $255,398 $0 $255,398
398     7400    Facilities Aquisition & Const 620     Audiovisual Materials         $0 $0 $0 $0

640     Furniture Fixtures & Equipment $0 $0 $0 $0

Total Revenue $43,381,712 $44,763,485 $0 $44,763,485

Page 107 of 268

DRAFT



610     Library Books                 $0 $0 $0 $0
399     7400    Facilities Aquisition & Const 670     Improvements other than Bldg  $0 $0 $0 $0

790     Miscellaneous                 $0 $0 $0 $0
680     Remodeling and Renovations    $515,885 $515,885 $0 $515,885

Total Expenses $85,106,208 $86,474,981 $0 $86,474,981

Page 108 of 268

DRAFT



SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY 
RESOLUTION TO AMEND DISTRICT BUDGET 

FISCAL YEAR 2025-2026
         CAPITAL PROJECTS

FUND 396
Month Ending  November 30, 2025

Fund Function Description Obj Description Adopted Beginning Budget Adj Working
Budget Budget

396     3410    Taxes                         000     Revenue $20,000,000 $20,000,000 $0 $20,000,000
3430    Interest  Incl Profit On Inves 000     Revenue $0 $0 $0 $0

396     7400    Facilities Aquisition & Const 630     Buildings and Fixed Equip     $2,019,811 $1,964,811 ($190,000) $1,774,811
640     Furniture Fixtures & Equipment $529,885 $511,405 $0 $511,405
670     Improvements other than Bldg  $8,569,751 $8,624,751 $140,000 $8,764,751
790     Miscellaneous                 $1,140,000 $1,140,000 $0 $1,140,000
680     Remodeling and Renovations    $22,229,482 $22,247,962 $50,000 $22,297,962

9200    Debt Service                  710     Redemption of Principal       $0 $0 $0 $0

Total Revenue $20,000,000 $20,000,000 $0 $20,000,000

Total Expenses $34,488,929 $34,488,929 $0 $34,488,929

Page 109 of 268

DRAFT



SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY 
RESOLUTION TO AMEND DISTRICT BUDGET 

FISCAL YEAR 2025-2026
DEBT SERVICE

FUND 2XX
Month Ending November 30, 2025

Fund Function Description Obj Description Adopted Beginning Budget Adj Working
Budget Budget

222     3340    Other State Revenues          000     Revenue $225,575 $225,575 $0 $225,575
3430    Interest  Incl Profit On Inves 000     Revenue $1,000 $1,000 $0 $1,000

294     3430    Interest  Incl Profit On Inves 000     Revenue $0 $0 $0 $0
3630    Transfer From Capital Projects 000     Revenue $4,607,000 $4,607,000 $0 $4,607,000

299     3630    Transfer From Capital Projects 000     Revenue $1,615,559 $1,615,559 $0 $1,615,559

222     9200    Debt Service                  710     Redemption of Principal       $155,000 $155,000 $0 $155,000
720     Interest                      $61,575 $61,575 $0 $61,575

290     9200    Debt Service                  730     Dues and Fees                 $0 $0 $0 $0
292     9200    Debt Service                  730     Dues and Fees                 $0 $0 $0 $0
293     9200    Debt Service                  730     Dues and Fees                 $0 $0 $0 $0
294     9200    Debt Service                  710     Redemption of Principal       $2,325,000 $2,325,000 $0 $2,325,000

720     Interest                      $2,277,000 $2,277,000 $0 $2,277,000
730     Dues and Fees                 $5,000 $5,000 $0 $5,000

299     9200    Debt Service                  710     Redemption of Principal       $1,588,331 $1,588,331 $0 $1,588,331
720     Interest                      $27,229 $27,229 $0 $27,229

Total Revenue $6,449,134 $6,449,134 $0 $6,449,134

Total Expenses $6,439,135 $6,439,134 $0 $6,439,134

Page 110 of 268

DRAFT



SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY 
RESOLUTION TO AMEND DISTRICT BUDGET 

FISCAL YEAR  2025-2026
SPECIAL REVENUE FOOD SERVICE

FUND 410
Month Ending November 30, 2025

Func Obj

National School Lunch Act

Categorical State Sources

Interest  Incl Profit On Inves

Gifts   Grants & Bequests

Food Services

Misc Local Resources

Sale of Capital Asset

Food Services

Central Services

Operation Of Plant

Description Adopted Beginning Budget Adj Working
Budget Budget

3260    000     Revenue $15,538,066 $15,538,066 $0 $15,538,066

3330    000     Revenue $145,000 $145,000 $0 $145,000

3430    000     Revenue $150,000 $150,000 $0 $150,000

3440    000     Revenue $0 $0 $0 $0

3450    000     Revenue $5,236,500 $5,236,500 $0 $5,236,500

3490    000     Revenue $5,000 $5,000 $0 $5,000

3733    000     Revenue $0 $0 $0 $0

7600    100     Salaries                      $7,357,994 $7,357,994 $0 $7,357,994
200     Employee Benefits             $2,790,558 $2,790,558 $0 $2,790,558
300     Purchased Services            $308,752 $314,552 $0 $314,552
400     Energy Services               $198,400 $198,400 $0 $198,400
500     Material and Supplies         $11,572,081 $11,566,281 $0 $11,566,281
600     Capital Outlay                $467,145 $467,145 $0 $467,145
700     Other                         $530,196 $530,196 $0 $530,196

7700    100     Salaries                      $0 $0 $0 $0
200     Employee Benefits             $0 $0 $0 $0

7900    100     Salaries                      $0 $0 $0 $0
200     Employee Benefits             $0 $0 $0 $0

Total Revenue $21,074,566 $21,074,566 $0 $21,074,566

Total Expenses $23,225,126 $23,225,126 $0 $23,225,126

Page 111 of 268

DRAFT



SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY 
RESOLUTION TO AMEND DISTRICT BUDGET 

FISCAL YEAR  2025-2026
SPECIAL REVENUE OTHER

FUND 42X
Month Ending November 30, 2025

3201    Revenue $367,631 $367,631 $0 $367,631

3220    Revenue $490,817 $490,817 $0 $490,817

3226    Revenue $5,945 $1,059,289 $0 $1,059,289

3230    Revenue $9,739,775 $11,534,704 $0 $11,534,704

3240    Revenue $5,919,586 $5,968,593 $0 $5,968,593

3241    Revenue $7,586 $7,586 $40,860 $48,446

3242    Revenue $309,711 $461,749 $0 $461,749

3290    Revenue $172,905 $172,905 $0 $172,905

3610    Revenue $875,739 $473,256 $0 $473,256

100     Salaries                      $7,252,797 $6,668,856 ($508) $6,668,348
200     Employee Benefits             $2,705,481 $2,606,475 ($2,607) $2,603,868
300     Purchased Services            $232,434 $999,040 $6,294 $1,005,334
400     Energy Services               $0 $0 $0 $0
500     Material and Supplies         $683,806 $1,032,044 $9,419 $1,041,464
600     Capital Outlay                $428,011 $592,600 $1,788 $594,390
700     Other                         $100,907 $122,265 $0 $122,265

100     Salaries                      $1,132,048 $1,178,959 $0 $1,178,959
200     Employee Benefits             $397,957 $451,651 $0 $451,651
300     Purchased Services            $1,463 $1,413 $0 $1,413
500     Material and Supplies         $2,186 $2,790 $0 $2,790
600     Capital Outlay                $0 $0 $0 $0
700     Other                         $650 $650 $0 $650

200     Employee Benefits             $23,029 $22,576 $0 $22,576
300     Purchased Services            $213 $373 $0 $373

100     Salaries                      $0 $0 $0 $0
200     Employee Benefits             $0 $0 $0 $0

100     Salaries                      $0 $0 $0 $0

Func Obj Adopted Beginning Budget Adj Working
Budget Budget

3201    Vocational Ed

3220    Workforce Investment Act

3226    Eisenhower Math And Science

3230    I.D.E.A.

3240    Title I - Elem & Secondary Edu

3241    Title III

3242    Title IV

3290    Other Federal Thru State

3610    Transfer From General Fund

Total Revenue $17,889,695 $20,536,531 $40,860 $20,577,391

5000    Instruction

6100    Student Personnel Services

6110    Social Work

6120    Guidance Services

6130    Health Services

Page 112 of 268

DRAFT



200     Employee Benefits             $0 $0 $0 $0
300     Purchased Services            $0 $0 $0 $0
500     Material and Supplies         $0 $0 $0 $0
700     Other                         $0 $0 $0 $0

100     Salaries                      $80,999 $84,531 $0 $84,531
200     Employee Benefits             $28,621 $32,199 $0 $32,199
300     Purchased Services            $68,091 $107,067 $0 $107,067
400     Energy Services               $0 $0 $0 $0
500     Material and Supplies         $60,673 $73,541 $2,709 $76,250
600     Capital Outlay                $0 $0 $0 $0
700     Other                         $0 $0 $0 $0

100     Salaries                      $0 $0 $0 $0
200     Employee Benefits             $0 $0 $0 $0
500     Material and Supplies         $0 $0 $0 $0
600     Capital Outlay                $0 $0 $0 $0

100     Salaries                      $2,516,710 $2,676,769 $628 $2,677,397
200     Employee Benefits             $971,710 $1,101,103 $190 $1,101,293
300     Purchased Services            $4,669 $34,623 $0 $34,623
500     Material and Supplies         $11,571 $36,571 $0 $36,571
600     Capital Outlay                $0 $0 $0 $0
700     Other                         $10,000 $10,000 $0 $10,000

100     Salaries                      $669,554 $1,293,855 $0 $1,293,855
200     Employee Benefits             $235,378 $447,852 ($10,294) $437,558
300     Purchased Services            $181,783 $409,675 $34,005 $443,680
500     Material and Supplies         $15,410 $98,398 ($2,067) $96,331
600     Capital Outlay                $7,586 $7,586 $0 $7,586
700     Other                         $3,500 $12,500 ($218) $12,282

100     Salaries                      $0 $0 $0 $0
200     Employee Benefits             $0 $0 $0 $0
300     Purchased Services            $0 $0 $0 $0
600     Capital Outlay                $0 $0 $0 $0

500     Material and Supplies         $0 $0 $0 $0
700     Other                         $27,610 $711,893 $1,521 $713,415

100     Salaries                      $0 $0 $0 $0
200     Employee Benefits             $0 $0 $0 $0
600     Capital Outlay                $0 $0 $0 $0

600     Capital Outlay                $0 $0 $0 $0

100     Salaries                      $0 $0 $0 $0
200     Employee Benefits             $0 $0 $0 $0

100     Salaries                      $0 $37,680 $0 $37,680
200     Employee Benefits             $0 $9,700 $0 $9,700
300     Purchased Services            $1,374 $1,374 $0 $1,374

6150    Parent Involvement

6200    Instructional Media

6300    Inst  & Curric   Dev Services

6400    Inst  Staff Training Services

6500    Instruction Related Technology

7200    General Administration

7300    School Administration

7400    Facilities Aquisition & Const

7600    Food Services

7700    Central Services

7800    Pupil Transportation Services

Page 113 of 268

DRAFT



100     Salaries                      $0 $0 $0 $0
200     Employee Benefits             $0 $0 $0 $0
300     Purchased Services            $33,494 $33,494 $0 $33,494
400     Energy Services               $0 $0 $0 $0

100     Salaries                      $0 $0 $0 $0
200     Employee Benefits             $0 $0 $0 $0
300     Purchased Services            $0 $0 $0 $0
500     Material and Supplies         $0 $0 $0 $0
600     Capital Outlay                $0 $0 $0 $0
700     Other                         $0 $0 $0 $0

100     Salaries                      $0 $0 $0 $0
200     Employee Benefits             $0 $0 $0 $0

500     Material and Supplies         $0 $0 $0 $0

7900    Operation Of Plant

8200    Administrative Technology Svcs

9100    Community Services

Total Expenses $17,889,715 $20,900,103 $40,860 $20,940,967

Page 114 of 268

DRAFT



SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY 
RESOLUTION TO AMEND DISTRICT BUDGET 

FISCAL YEAR  2025-2026
SPECIAL REVENUE OTHER

FUND 44X
Month Ending November 30, 2025

No Data Available
5000    Instruction

6100    Student Personnel Services

6150    Parent Involvement

6400    Inst  Staff Training Services

7400    Facilities Aquisition & Const

7900    Operation Of Plant

9100    Community Services

300     Purchased Services            $0 $0 $0 $0
500     Material and Supplies         $0 $0 $0 $0
600     Capital Outlay                $0 $0 $0 $0

500     Material and Supplies         $0 $0 $0 $0
600     Capital Outlay                $0 $0 $0 $0
700     Other                         $0 $0 $0 $0

300     Purchased Services            $0 $0 $0 $0
600     Capital Outlay                $0 $0 $0 $0

300     Purchased Services            $0 $0 $0 $0
500     Material and Supplies         $0 $0 $0 $0

600     Capital Outlay                $0 $0 $0 $0

500     Material and Supplies         $0 $0 $0 $0

700     Other                         $0 $0 $0 $0
Total Expenses $0 $0 $0 $0

Page 115 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C9 - Request for Acceptance of the FY2024-2025 School Internal Accounts Audit

Description
School Board policy requires that an annual audit of the school internal accounts be performed. The internal accounts audit for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 has been completed.

Gap Analysis

Previous Outcomes

Expected Outcomes
Audits of school internal accounts will ensure that internal funds are focused on student needs.

Strategic Plan Goal
This Strategic Plan calls for the District to focus its resources on educational issues. This audit helps achieve this focus. 

Recommendation
Acceptance of the FY2024-2025 School Internal Accounts Audit.

Contact
Dawn Posey, Assistant Superintendent of Business Affairs (904) 336-6721

Financial Impact
The cost of this audit is $61,600 and is paid for by the District.

Review Comments

Attachments

Final Clay County School Board - Internal Accounts.pdf

Final SAS114 Clay County School Board - Internal Accounts.pdf

Page 116 of 268

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/final-clay-county-school-board-internal-accounts.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/final-sas114-clay-county-school-board-internal-accounts.pdf


2025 
  Student Activity Fund  - Internal Accounts  

Clay County District School Board  
   

  Financial Statements and 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
   

  June 30, 2025 

Page 117 of 268

DRAFT



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS 
CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 

GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 

JUNE 30, 2025 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report .................................................................................................................. 1-3 
 
Balance Sheet ............................................................................................................................................... 4 
 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance ...................................................... 5 
 
Notes to Financial Statements ................................................................................................................ 6-10 
 
Supplementary Information 
 Schedule of Changes in Fund Balance - By School ................................................................................... 11 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial 
 Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters 
 Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in 
 Accordance with Government Auditing Standards .......................................................................... 12-14 
 
Management Letter ................................................................................................................................... 15 
 
Management Letter – Specific School Comments ............................................................................... 16-65 
 
 

Page 118 of 268

DRAFT



1 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
Clay County District School Board and Superintendent 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 
 
Opinions 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Student Activity Fund - Internal Accounts 
(the Internal Accounts), a special revenue fund of the Clay County District School Board (the District) as of 
and for the year ended June 30, 2025, and the related notes to the financial statements, as listed in the 
table of contents. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the Internal Accounts of the District as of June 30, 2025, and the respective 
changes in financial position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinions 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report.  We are required to be independent of the District, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, 
in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Internal Accounts of the District are intended to 
present the financial position, the changes in financial position of only that portion of the governmental 
activities, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the District.  They do not purport to, and do 
not, present fairly the financial position of the District, as of June 30, 2025, the changes in its financial 
position, or, where applicable, its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  Our opinion is not modified with respect 
to this matter. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.  
 

Page 119 of 268

DRAFT



 

2 

Clay County District School Board and Superintendent 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinions.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and, therefore, is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.  Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood 
that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based 
on the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government 
Auditing Standards, we: 
 
■ Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
■ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such procedures 
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

■ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the District’s internal control related to the Internal Accounts.  Accordingly, no such 
opinion is expressed. 

■ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.  

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
Management has omitted the management’s discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison 
information of the special revenue fund that accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America require to be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such missing 
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  Our opinions on 
the basic financial statements are not affected by this missing information. 
 
Supplementary Information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Internal Accounts’ basic financial statements.  The accompanying schedule of changes in 
fund balance - by school is presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of 

Page 120 of 268

DRAFT



 

3 

Clay County District School Board and Superintendent 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
the basic financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived 
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 
financial statements.  The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit 
of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling 
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 
financial statements, or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, 
the schedule of changes in fund balance - by school  is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to 
the basic financial statements as a whole.  
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 17, 
2025, on our consideration of the Internal Accounts’ internal control over financial reporting and on our 
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, and 
other matters.  The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Internal Accounts’ internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That 
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering the Internal Accounts’ internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
November 17, 2025 
Ocala, Florida 

Page 121 of 268

DRAFT



Special Revenue

Fund

Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,920,641$            

Total Assets 4,920,641              

Total Liabilities -                               

Fund Balances

Restricted for School Internal Funds 4,920,641              

Total Fund Balances 4,920,641              

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 4,920,641$            

BALANCE SHEET

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE

JUNE 30, 2025

ASSETS

See accompanying notes.

4

Page 122 of 268

DRAFT



Special Revenue

Fund

Revenues

Contributions and Grants 11,060,134$          

Total Revenues 11,060,134            

Expenditures

Program Services 10,823,891            

Total Expenditures 10,823,891            

Net Change in Fund Balance 236,243                  

Fund Balance - Beginning of Year 4,684,398              

Fund Balance - End of Year 4,920,641$            

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

See accompanying notes.

5

Page 123 of 268

DRAFT



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 
 

6 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The financial statements of the Student Activity Fund - Internal Accounts (the Internal Accounts), a special 
revenue fund of the Clay County District School Board (the District) have been prepared to conform to 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), as applied to governmental units.  The Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard setting body for establishing governmental 
accounting and financial reporting principles.  Pursuant to Florida Statutes, Section 1001.51(11)(f), the 
Superintendent of Schools is responsible for keeping records and accounts of all financial transactions in 
the manner prescribed by the State Board of Education.  The following is a summary of the more 
significant of these policies: 
 
Reporting Entity 
The District and its governing board (the Board) are organized and operated under Section 4, Article IX, of 
the constitution of Florida and Chapter 1001 of Florida Statutes.  The District’s boundaries are 
coterminous with those of Clay County.  Management of the District is independent of county and city 
governments.  The membership of the Board of the District consists of five members elected by county-
wide vote for overlapping four-year terms.  The Superintendent is elected and acts as chief executive 
officer of the District. 
 
For financial reporting purposes, the accompanying financial statements include only the activity 
accounted for in the Internal Accounts of the District and does not purport to present financial position 
and results of operations for the District as a whole.  The District does, however, prepare an entity-wide 
annual financial report, which also includes the Internal Accounts, which can be obtained from the 
District’s administrative offices. 
 
The Internal Accounts are a single special revenue fund of the District as follows: 
 
■ Special Revenue Fund—to account for resources of the Internal Accounts, which are used to 

administer monies collected at the District’s schools in connection with school, student athletic, class 
and club activities, and financial aid fee collections and expenditures.  The fund is made up of all of 
the internal account activity of the District’s elementary, junior or middle, high schools, a virtual K-12, 
and an adult community education center, and are unbudgeted public funds under the control and 
supervision of the District with individual school principals having day-to-day responsibility over their 
respective schools. 

 
The collection and disbursement of Internal Accounts is performed in accordance with Florida 
Statutes, the school board rules, and the Financial and Program Cost Accounting and Reporting for 
Florida Schools manual, published by the Florida Department of Education. 
 

A single fund level statement is presented for the Internal Accounts Special Revenue fund.  No entity-wide 
statements are presented as there are no reconciling items between fund level and entity-wide. 

 
Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
The accompanying financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they become 
both measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within 
the current period, or soon enough thereafter, to pay liabilities of the current period.  For this purpose,  

Page 124 of 268

DRAFT



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 
 

7 

the District considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current 
fiscal year.  Expenditures are generally recognized when the related fund liability is incurred, as under 
accrual accounting.   
 
Cash and Investments 
Cash deposits are held by banks qualified as public depositories under Florida law.  All deposits are insured 
by federal depository insurance and/or collateralized with securities held in Florida’s multiple financial 
institution collateral pool as required by Chapter 280, Florida Statutes; thus, all bank balances of the 
Internal Accounts of the District are fully insured or collateralized. 
 
Per Section 230.23(10)(k), Florida Statutes, school boards should have policies pertaining to the 
investment of school funds that are not needed for immediate expenditures.  The District’s investment 
policy established permitted investments, asset allocation limits and issuer limits, credit rating 
requirements, and maturity limits to protect the District’s cash and investment assets.  The District 
maintains a common cash and investment pool for the use of all funds.  The District has a formal 
investment policy that allows listed investment and investment types, including registered investment 
companies, intergovernmental investment pools, and other investments permitted by Section 218.415, 
Florida Statutes.  Investments classified as cash equivalents include Florida PRIME.  As of the year ended 
June 30, 2025, the District’s Internal Accounts had $1,789,008 invested in funds that the District reported 
as cash equivalents.   
 
Investments consist of amounts placed in the State Board of Administration (SBA) for participation in 
Florida PRIME investment pools created by Section 218.405, Florida Statutes.  The investment pools 
operate under investment guidelines established by Section 215.47, Florida Statues.  
 
The District’s investments in Florida PRIME meet all of the necessary criteria to elect to measure all of the 
investments at amortized cost.  Like money market funds, a participant’s account balance is a share of the 
investment pool, not the underlying securities, and reported at fair value, which is amortized cost.  
Amortized cost is considered the fair value of the participant’s investment. 
 
Accounting Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Risk Management 
The Internal Accounts are exposed to various risks of loss related to theft of, damage to, and destruction 
of assets.  The District provides commercial insurance to cover these risks of loss to the Internal Accounts. 
 
Fund Balance 
The Internal Accounts follow the provisions of GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and 
Governmental Fund Type Definitions, to classify fund balances for governmental funds into specifically 
defined classifications.  The classifications comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which 
the Internal Accounts is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in the 
funds can be spent. 

Page 125 of 268

DRAFT



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 
 

8 

Fund balances are described below: 
 
Non-Spendable Fund Balances―Non-Spendable Fund Balances are amounts that cannot be spent 
because they are either:  (a) not in spendable form; or (b) legally or contractually required to be 
maintained intact. 
 
Restricted Fund Balances―Restricted Fund Balances are restricted when constraints placed on the use of 
resources are either:  (a) externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of 
other governments; or (b) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
 
Committed Fund Balances―Committed Fund Balances are amounts that can only be used for specific 
purposes as a result of constraints imposed by formal action of the Internal Accounts’ highest level of 
decision-making authority.  The Board is the highest level of decision-making authority for the Internal 
Accounts that can, by adoption of a resolution prior to the end of the fiscal year, commit fund balance.  
Committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless the Internal Accounts removes those 
constraints by taking the same type of action. 
 
Assigned Fund Balances―Amounts in the Assigned Fund Balance classification are intended to be used 
by the government for specific purposes but do not meet the criteria to be classified as committed.  The 
District has authorized the finance director to assign fund balance.  Unlike commitments, assignments 
generally only exist temporarily.  
 
The Internal Accounts’ policy is to expend resources in the following order:  restricted, committed, 
assigned, and unassigned. 
 
Note 2 - Cash Deposits With Financial Institutions 
 
Custodial Credit Risk 
In the case of deposits, this is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, 
the District will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are 
in the possession of an outside party.  The District does not have a policy for custodial credit.  All bank 
balances of the District are fully insured or collateralized as required by Chapter 280, Florida Statutes.  
 
Note 3 - Investments 
 
As of June 30, 2025, the Internal Accounts have the following investment: 
 

 Investments   Maturities   Fair Value  
State Board of Administration:        
 Florida PRIME   47 Day Average (A)  $ 1,789,008 

 
Notes: (A) Investments reported as cash equivalents for financial statement reporting purposes. 

 

Page 126 of 268

DRAFT



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 
 

9 

Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment.  The District’s investment policy does not specifically limit investment maturities as a means 
of managing its exposure to fair value losses from increasing interest rates but generally requires shorter-
term investment maturities that are matched with cash flow needs to avoid selling securities prior to 
maturity.  
 
Florida PRIME uses a weighted average days to maturity (WAM).  A portfolio’s WAM reflects the average 
maturity in days based on final maturity or reset date, in the case of floating rate instruments.  WAM 
measures the sensitivity of the portfolio to interest rate changes.  
 
For Florida PRIME, with regard to redemption rates, Section 218.409(8)(a), Florida Statutes, states, “The 
principal, and any part thereof, of each account constituting the trust fund is subject to payment at any 
time from the moneys in the trust fund.  However, the executive director may, in good faith, on the 
occurrence of an event that has a material impact on liquidity or operations of the trust fund, for 48 hours 
limit contributions to or withdrawals from the trust fund to ensure that the SBA can invest moneys 
entrusted to it in exercising its fiduciary responsibility.  Such action must be immediately disclosed to all 
participants, the trustees, the Joint Legislative Auditing Committee, the Investment Advisory Council, and 
the Participant Local Government Advisory Council.  The trustees shall convene an emergency meeting as 
soon as practicable from the time the executive director has instituted such measures and review the 
necessity of those measures.  If the trustees are unable to convene an emergency meeting before the 
expiration of the 48-hour moratorium on contributions and withdrawals, the moratorium may be 
extended by the executive director until the trustees are able to meet to review the necessity for the 
moratorium.  If the trustees agree with such measures, the trustees shall vote to continue the measures 
for up to an additional 15 days.  The trustees must convene and vote to continue any such measures 
before the expiration of the time limit set, but in no case may the time limit set by the trustees exceed 15 
days”.   
 
As of June 30, 2025, there were no redemption fees, maximum transaction amounts, or any other 
requirements that serve to limit a participant’s daily access to 100 percent of their account value. 
 
With regard to liquidity fees, Section 218.409(4), Florida Statutes, provides authority for the SBA to impose 
penalties for early withdrawal, subject to disclosure in the enrollment materials of the amount and 
propose of such fees.  At present, no such disclosure has been made. 
 
Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.  
Section 218.415(17), Florida Statutes, limits investments to the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust 
Fund, or any intergovernmental investment pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal 
Cooperation Act as provided in Section 163.01, Florida Statutes; Securities and Exchange Commission 
registered money market funds with the highest credit quality rating from a nationally recognized rating 
agency; interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts in qualified public depositories, as defined in 
Section 280.02, Florida Statutes; and direct obligations of the United States Treasury.  The District’s 
investment policy limits investments to the SBA Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund Investment 
Pool which, effective July 1, 2009, is known as Florida PRIME, or any intergovernmental investment pool; 
Securities and Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the highest credit quality rating;  

Page 127 of 268

DRAFT



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 
 

10 

interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts held in qualified public depositories; direct obligations 
of the United States Treasury; Federal Agencies and Instrumentalities, any open-end or closed-end 
management-type investment company or registered investment trust investing in, or repurchase 
agreements collateralized by, obligations of the United States Government or any agency or 
instrumentality; and commercial paper and bankers’ acceptances with quality credit ratings. 
 
The District’s investment in the Florida PRIME is rated AAAm by Standard & Poor’s.   
 
Custodial Credit Risk 
Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty to a 
transaction, the District will not be able to recover the value of investment or collateral securities that are 
in the possession of an outside party.  The District’s investment policy addresses custodial credit risk in 
that all securities, with the exception of certificates of deposit, are held with a third-party custodian; and 
all securities purchased by, and all collateral obtained by the District should be properly designated as an 
asset of the District.  The securities must be held in an account separate and apart from the assets of the 
financial institution. 
 
The District’s investments in the money market mutual funds are held by the safekeeping agent in the 
name of the District. 

Page 128 of 268

DRAFT



 

 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

Page 129 of 268

DRAFT



Beginning Ending
Balance Balance

June 30, 2024 Revenues (Expenditures) June 30, 2025
Adult Community Education 9,950$                    5,102$                    (5,878)$                  9,174$                    
Argyle Elementary 33,743                    80,075                    (85,666)                  28,152                    
Bannerman Learning Center 44,577                    35,749                    (70,698)                  9,628                      
Charles E. Bennett Elementary 21,549                    52,771                    (60,263)                  14,057                    
Clay High 518,275                 955,660                 (939,174)                534,761                 
Clay Hill Elementary 14,803                    60,966                    (63,752)                  12,017                    
Clay Virtual Academy 2,017                      5,005                      (2,430)                    4,592                      
Coppergate Elementary 24,678                    62,111                    (54,497)                  32,292                    
Discovery Oaks Elementary 37,854                    131,746                 (136,322)                33,278                    
Doctors Inlet Elementary 9,902                      66,928                    (60,702)                  16,128                    
Fleming Island Elementary 88,068                    147,067                 (154,245)                80,890                    
Fleming Island High 648,700                 1,419,784              (1,434,345)             634,139                 
Green Cove Springs Jr. High 108,686                 183,087                 (191,489)                100,284                 
Grove Park Elementary 17,401                    32,735                    (31,219)                  18,917                    
Keystone Heights Elementary 49,345                    113,256                 (107,537)                55,064                    
Keystone Heights High 365,602                 658,179                 (592,903)                430,878                 
Lake Asbury Elementary 42,464                    143,746                 (136,408)                49,802                    
Lake Asbury Jr. High 123,784                 421,839                 (361,167)                184,456                 
Lakeside Elementary 40,733                    114,011                 (105,093)                49,651                    
Lakeside Jr. High 112,169                 289,327                 (273,302)                128,194                 
McRae Elementary 33,953                    81,863                    (86,583)                  29,233                    
Middleburg Elementary 9,733                      43,184                    (42,857)                  10,060                    
Middleburg High 410,738                 962,729                 (865,289)                508,178                 
Montclair Elementary 15,197                    38,669                    (36,489)                  17,377                    
Oakleaf High School 444,110                 1,320,487              (1,321,850)             442,747                 
Oakleaf Jr. High 96,188                    331,255                 (340,643)                86,800                    
Oakleaf Village Elementary 82,832                    154,816                 (168,138)                69,510                    
Orange Park Elementary 68,887                    119,122                 (139,955)                48,054                    
Orange Park High 246,092                 733,958                 (750,922)                229,128                 
Orange Park Jr. High 75,069                    135,809                 (132,969)                77,909                    
Paterson Elementary 71,309                    157,454                 (143,323)                85,440                    
Plantation Oaks Elementary 52,349                    75,846                    (73,737)                  54,458                    
RideOut Elementary 37,349                    115,138                 (117,723)                34,764                    
Ridgeview Elementary 23,436                    37,399                    (46,126)                  14,709                    
Ridgeview High School 378,147                 773,758                 (700,591)                451,314                 
S. Bryan Jennings Elementary 11,125                    26,182                    (18,903)                  18,404                    
Shadowlawn Elementary 20,005                    68,097                    (69,615)                  18,487                    
Spring Park Elementary 18,082                    119,109                 (116,732)                20,459                    
Swimming Pen Creek Elementary 44,074                    126,092                 (131,987)                38,179                    
Thunderbolt Elementary 65,764                    141,513                 (164,571)                42,706                    
Tynes Elementary 36,644                    123,123                 (110,392)                49,375                    
W.E. Cherry Elementary 12,628                    75,210                    (69,425)                  18,413                    
Wilkinson Elementary 26,594                    72,493                    (78,036)                  21,051                    
Wilkinson Jr. High 89,793                    247,684                 (229,945)                107,532                 
Total 4,684,398$            11,060,134$          (10,823,891)$        4,920,641$            

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BY SCHOOL

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUNDS - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

11

Page 130 of 268

DRAFT



 

12 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN 

AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
Clay County District School Board and Superintendent 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Student Activity 
Fund - Internal Accounts (the Internal Accounts) of Clay County District School Board (the District) as of 
and for the year ended June 30, 2025, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued 
our report thereon dated November 17, 2025. 
 
Our report on the financial statements includes a paragraph explaining that the financial statements 
include only the financial statements of the Internal Accounts and does not include other funds of the 
District. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Internal Accounts’ 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Internal 
Accounts’ internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Internal 
Accounts’ internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe 
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and, therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies  
 

Page 131 of 268

DRAFT



 

13 

Clay County District School Board and Superintendent 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN 

AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
may exist that have not been identified.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  We did identify a deficiency 
in internal control, described below, that we consider to be a significant deficiency: 
 
■ 2025-01―Segregation of Duties 
 One of the tenets of sound internal control is the segregation of incompatible duties among 

employees.  The basic premise is that, to minimize the risk of employee errors and fraudulent 
activities, duties should be segregated so that individuals do not perform all accounting functions for 
a single area.  During our audit of the Internal Accounts, we identified instances where the bookkeeper 
is the sole individual responsible for deposits, preparing disbursements, recording transactions in the 
general ledger, and reconciling bank statements.  This condition is common among internal accounts 
in school districts across the state of Florida and is not unique to the District.  The District has 
recognized this weakness and has established and implemented detective controls to mitigate this 
risk.  These include the monthly review and approval of the principal’s report and bank reconciliation 
by each principal, the distribution of monthly account reports to each school sponsor or instructor for 
their respective accounts, and monthly reviews performed by the internal audit department. 

 
 We recommend that the District further its efforts to mitigate the segregation of duties issues and 

continue to emphasize the importance of detection controls over cash receipting and bank deposits 
and disbursements. 

 
 Management’s Response:  Management continues to emphasize the importance of strong detective 

and preventive controls.  Bookkeepers are not permitted to be the initial collectors of any funds, as 
this restriction is necessary to preserve an appropriate level of segregation of duties.  Since 
bookkeepers are responsible for preparing deposits, recording transactions, and reconciling bank 
accounts, participating in the initial collection of funds would create an unacceptable risk of errors or 
potential misuse. 

  
 In addition to the existing controls, management is currently updating the Internal Accounts 

Handbook to further strengthen standardized procedures and provide improved guidance for schools.  
The District is also working to migrate internal accounts processes into the District’s ERP system, which 
will enhance monitoring, controls, and system-based segregation of duties.  Management will 
continue to reinforce the importance of adhering to established controls and will provide ongoing 
training and support to school staff. 

 
Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Internal Accounts’ financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts and grant agreements, non-compliance with which could have a direct and material 
effect on the financial statements.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions  

Page 132 of 268

DRAFT



 

14 

Clay County District School Board and Superintendent 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN 

AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our 
tests disclosed no instances of non-compliance that are required to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards. 
 
We noted certain matters that we reported to management in the accompanying management letter 
dated November 17, 2025. 
 
Internal Accounts’ Response to Findings 
The Internal Accounts’ response to the findings identified in our audit is described above.  The Internal 
Accounts’ response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial 
statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Internal Accounts’ 
internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Internal Accounts’ internal control and compliance.  
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
November 17, 2025 
Ocala, Florida 

Page 133 of 268

DRAFT



 

15 

MANAGEMENT LETTER 
 
 
Clay County District School Board and Superintendent 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the financial statements of the Student 
Activity Fund - Internal Accounts (the Internal Accounts) of Clay County District School Board (the District) 
as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America, we considered the District’s system of internal control over financial 
reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control.  Accordingly, we 
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Internal Accounts’ internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph and was 
not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses.  Given these 
limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be 
material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 
During our audit, we became aware of certain matters that represent opportunities for strengthening 
internal controls and improving operating efficiency.  Our comments regarding these matters are provided 
on pages 16 through 65. 
 
This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, those charged with 
governance, and others within the Internal Accounts, and is not intended to be, and should not be, used 
by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
 
 
November 17, 2025 
Ocala Florida 
 

Page 134 of 268

DRAFT



Finding  1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Proof of Two Signatures on 

Checks
Principal's Response 

While the current Bookkeeper was 

out for part of September and all of 

October and November, the 

individual covering her duties did 

not retain images of signed checks.  

As a result, the auditor was unable 

to verify that two signatures were 

present on any checks issued during 

that period.  The auditor and current 

Bookkeeper were also unable to 

locate check images through the 

bank’s online platform.

The auditor was unable to 

substantiate whether two signatures 

were present on the checks.

No

Per Redbook Chapter 8, Section III, 

1.3(a), "All checks must be signed 

with two signatures as prescribed by 

the principal, if not prescribed by 

district school board policy.

We confirm that the two-signature 

policy is consistently followed; 

however, to resolve the audit finding 

that compliance could not be 

substantiated due to incomplete 

documentation, we will ensure 

complete copies of all signed checks 

are made and properly filed for 

future review.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

School Name: Adult Community Center

16

Page 135 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding  1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Fundraising Principal's Response 

We noted one instance in which 

there were no pre-approval 

signatures prior to the start of the 

fundraiser.  Additionally, for that 

same fundraiser, the sponsor and 

bookkeeper signed off on the 

reconciliation on the first day of the 

event rather than after it concluded.

The fundraiser began on 11/18/24 

and ended on 11/20/24.  The 

reconciliation was approved and 

signed on 11/18/24 by the sponsor 

and bookkeeper, and on 11/21/24 

by the principal, for fundraiser FR 

#24253.

No

Per the Clay County Internal 

Accounts Manual, “Form BAD-1-

3025, ‘Fundraiser Application and 

Financial Recap’ Part A, and ‘Before 

Event’ section shall be completed 

and submitted to the bookkeeper 

before any advertising or collection 

of funds.  The reconciliation shall be 

completed within 30 days after the 

final sale."

We will refer to the IA manual and 

Redbook, and will follow the 

procedures. 

School Name: Bannerman Learning Center

17

Page 136 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

No findings noted.

School Name: Clay Virtual Academy

18

Page 137 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Cash Collections Principal’s Response 

During receipt testing, we noted one 

instance in which cash received 

outside the school office was not 

remitted to the bookkeeper within 

one business day.  Specifically, 

$150.75 for Safety Patrol was 

collected on 12/12/2024, received 

by the office on 12/16/2024, and 

deposited on 12/20/2024.

No

Per Redbook, Chapter 8, Section III, 

1.4(b), "Collections made outside of 

the school office must be turned in 

to the school office no later than the 

next business day."

The principal and the bookkeeper 

will collaborate to remind teachers 

of the importance of submitting 

funds during regular working hours 

to ensure timely processing. 

School Name: Argyle Elementary

19

Page 138 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Class and Club Accounts Principal’s Response 

During the review, it was noted in 

the Internal Control Questionnaire 

that budgets were not being 

retained for all class and club 

accounts.

Yes - In previous 

year during the 

time of review, 

it was noted in 

the Internal 

Control 

Questionnaire 

that budgets 

were not being 

retained for all 

class and club 

accounts. 

Per the Internal Accounts Manual, 

Chapter 1, page 7, “Each school’s 

organization, class, club, or 

department shall operate within a 

budget formulated by the 

organization members.”

Per the Redbook requirements, 

Chapter 8, Section 1.11, “Each 

school organization should operate 

within a budget formulated by the 

organization.  The format of the 

budget shall be prescribed by district 

school board policies.”

CEB's Bookkeeper was not aware of 

the Redbook requirement.  She is 

currently working to correct the 

mistake to create Internal budgets 

for all classes.

Finding 2

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-02 Activity Transfers Principal’s Response 

During the review, we noted that 

Transfer #22 for $300, described as 

"From VPK to Second Grade," was 

not properly approved or authorized 

by the principal.

No

Per the Internal Accounts Manual, 

Chapter 10, page 46, "Upon the 

approval of the Transfer Request 

form by the principal, the 

bookkeeper will enter the transfer 

number on the transfer request." 

A single individual should not be 

able to complete a transaction 

without secondary approval.  We 

recommend that all transfers be 

reviewed and approved by a 

secondary individual.  (Segregation 

of Duties)

As a Secretarial team, CEB has 

improved organizational procedures 

while secretaries are out for 

extended leave.

School Name: Charles E. Bennett Elementary

20

Page 139 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

School Name: Clay Hill Elementary

No findings noted.

21

Page 140 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Fundraisers Principal’s Response 

During our testing, we noted one 

instance in which the fundraiser 

recap was not properly completed 

within 30 days of the event’s 

conclusion.  Fundraiser FR #29 

started on 1/13/2025 and ended on 

2/5/2025; the recap was not 

available or dated at the time of our 

review.

Yes - During our 

review of 

fundraisers in 

the prior year, 

the auditor was 

not able to be 

provided any 

supporting 

documentation 

or forms 

completed.  

Only thing 

available on-site 

was a 

Fundraiser Log. 

Per Rebook, Chapter 8, Section 

2.3(e), a financial report shall be 

filed with the principal's office at the 

close of each fundraising activity. 

Per the Clay County Internal 

Accounts Manual, “Form BAD-1-

3025, ‘Fundraiser Application and 

Financial Recap’ Part A, and ‘Before 

Event’ section shall be completed 

and submitted to the bookkeeper 

before any advertising or collection 

of funds.  The reconciliation shall be 

completed within 30 days after the 

final sale."

The principal will make sure a 

financial report is filed with the 

principal's office at the close of each 

fundraising activity.  The principal 

will ensure that the Fundraiser 

Application and Financial Recap Part 

A and the Before Event sections are 

completed and submitted to the 

bookkeeper before any advertising 

or collection of funds.  The 

reconciliation shall be completed 

within 30 days after the final sale. 

School Name: Coppergate Elementary 

22

Page 141 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

School Name: Doctors Inlet Elementary

No findings noted.

23

Page 142 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Missing Purchase Order Principal’s Response 

During our testing of disbursements, 

we were unable to locate one of the 

purchase orders included in a check 

disbursement.  Specifically, PO #772 

for $49.99 could not be found. 

No

2020 Clay County Internal Accounts 

Manual, Chapter 4 - Cash 

Disbursements & Expenditures, page 

26: "The purchase order must be 

generated before making a purchase 

or obligating the school to purchase 

items using Internal Accounts 

funds… The principal's signature 

approval must be obtained before 

generating the Purchase Order."

Per the Redbook, Chapter 8, Section 

3.3.2, a signed commitment from 

the principal or designee(s) must be 

on file before any purchase is made.

This finding was from the previous 

secretary.  We do not have that 

issue now.

School Name: Discovery Oaks Elementary

24

Page 143 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 2

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-02 Fundraisers Principal’s Response 

During our testing, we noted 

multiple fundraisers that lacked the 

proper forms and documentation 

required per Chapter 8 of the 

Redbook and School Board Policy.  

For Fundraiser FR #20, the 

fundraiser recap did not appear to 

have the principal’s signature, 

although the bookkeeper and 

sponsor signed on 3/25/25.  

Fundraiser FR #8 did not appear to 

include the bookkeeper’s signature 

on the pre-approval section of the 

form.  For Fundraiser FR #23, the 

recap was not signed within 30 days; 

however, this delay was due to 

awaiting vendor approval.

Yes - During 

testing in the 

prior year, the 

auditor noted 

one fundraiser 

wasn’t properly 

reconciled 

within 30 days 

of the final sale, 

and wasn’t 

properly 

approved 

before the start 

date.

Per Rebook, Chapter 8, Section 

2.3(e), a financial report shall be 

filed with the principal's office at the 

close of each fundraising activity. 

Section 2.4 goes on to note that 

each fundraising activity shall have 

the approval of the organization 

sponsor and the principal.

We did have a miscommunication 

between the district office and 

ourselves which took place the day 

of the audit.  The only fundraiser 

over 30 days was booster gobble 

wobble which was due to vendor 

approval for shoes.  We have put 

procedures in place to ensure this 

does not occur in the future.

School Name: Discovery Oaks Elementary

25

Page 144 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Fundraising Events Lacking 

Documented Approval
Principal’s Response 

During our testing, we noted one 

instance in which the fundraiser 

recap was not properly completed 

within 30 days of the event’s 

conclusion.  Fundraiser FR #25 

started on 10/1/24 and ended on 

10/18/24, but the reconciliation was 

not signed off and approved until 

1/6/2025.

No

Per Redbook, Chapter 8, Section 

2.3(e), "A financial report shall be 

filed with the principal's office at the 

close of each fundraising activity." 

Per the Clay County Internal 

Accounts Manual, “Form BAD-1-

3025, ‘Fundraiser Application and 

Financial Recap’ Part A, and ‘Before 

Event’ section shall be completed 

and submitted to the bookkeeper 

before any advertising or collection 

of funds.  The reconciliation shall be 

completed within 30 days after the 

final sale."

We will continue to share our 

expectations with our team 

regarding prompt completion of 

appropriate fundraiser forms.  We 

will also monitor deadlines to follow 

up as needed with our sponsors. 

School Name: Fleming Island Elementary

26

Page 145 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Fundraiser Financial Recap 

Submission
Principal’s Response 

During our testing, we noted an 

instance in which the fundraiser 

recap was not properly completed 

within 30 days of the event’s 

conclusion.  Fundraiser FR #25-10 

ended on 2/25/25, but the 

reconciliation was not signed off and 

approved until 4/10/25. 

No

Per the Clay County Internal 

Accounts Manual, Chapter 5, page 

33, "The [fundraiser] reconciliation 

shall be completed within 30 days 

after the final sale."

Per the Redbook, Chapter 8, Section 

2.3(e) A financial report shall be filed 

with the principal’s office at the 

close of each fundraising activity.

Noted and documented.

Communication to Bookkeeper.

Tracking system in place, regular 

scheduled reminders, establish an 

escalation process.

Finding 2

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-02 Receipt of Donation Principal’s Response 

During our cash receipt sampling, we 

noted one instance in which a large 

donation of $7,500, received on 

12/18/24, was not deposited until 

1/10/25, exceeding the five-business-

day requirement.  Due to the 

amount, this deposit required 

approval from the District and was 

also delayed because it occurred 

during the holidays when some 

individuals were out of the office.

No

Per Redbook, Chapter 8, Section 

1.4(c), "All money collected must be 

deposited intact to a depository as 

frequently as feasible and as 

dictated by sound business 

practices.  In any event, funds 

collected must be deposited within 

five (5) working days."

Noted and documented.

Train staff, donation log, daily 

checks.

School Name: Grove Park Elementary

27

Page 146 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

School Name: Keystone Heights Elementary

No findings noted.

28

Page 147 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Fundraiser Financial Recap 

Submission
Principal’s Response 

During our testing, we noted a 

fundraiser for which the final 

approval of the financial recap form 

occurred more than 30 days after 

the fundraiser ended.  Fundraiser 

FR#8 ended on 9/24/24, with the 

final reconciliation approved and 

signed off on 12/13/24.

No

Per the Redbook, Chapter 8, Section 

2.3(e) A financial report shall be filed 

with the principal’s office at the 

close of each fundraising activity.

Per the Clay County Internal 

Accounts Manual, Chapter 5, page 

33, "The reconciliation shall be 

completed within 30 days after the 

final sale."

The teacher who organized the 

fundraiser did not return to the 

business for many, many weeks after 

the event date.  This made the 

deposit and the closing of the 

fundraiser go past the 30 day period. 

School Name: Lake Asbury Elementary

29

Page 148 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

School Name: Lakeside Elementary

No findings noted.

30

Page 149 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

School Name: McRae Elementary

No findings noted.

31

Page 150 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

School Name: Montclair Elementary

No findings noted.

32

Page 151 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

School Name: Middleburg Elementary 

No findings noted.

33

Page 152 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Fundraising Events Principal’s Response 

During our testing, we noted a 

fundraiser for which the final 

approval of the financial recap form 

was dated inconsistently.  Fundraiser 

FR#4 ended on 5/1/2025, but the 

final reconciliation was signed off 

and approved on 1/29/2025, before 

the dated end date.

Yes - During 

testing in the 

previous year, 

the auditor 

noted one 

fundraiser 

wasn’t properly 

reconciled 

within 30 days 

of the final sale. 

Per the Redbook, Chapter 8, Section 

2.3(e) A financial report shall be filed 

with the principal’s office at the 

close of each fundraising activity.

Per the Clay County Internal 

Accounts Manual, Chapter 5, page 

33, "The reconciliation shall be 

completed within 30 days after the 

final sale."

We acknowledge the late approval 

of the fundraiser recap.  The 

bookkeeper will continue to monitor 

due dates, and the principal will 

review and approve all submissions 

promptly to ensure compliance with 

the 30-day requirement whenever 

possible.

Unfortunately, we are dependent on 

the vendor to provide the proceeds 

check in order to close the 

fundraiser, and this process has 

exceeded the 30-day deadline.   

School Name: Oakleaf Village Elementary 

34

Page 153 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Fundraiser Financial Recap 

Submission
Principal’s Response 

During our testing, we noted a 

fundraiser for which final approval of 

the financial recap form occurred 

more than 30 days after the 

fundraiser’s end date.  Fundraiser 

FR#25-9 ended on 11/21/24, with 

the financial recap signed and 

approved on 12/10/24.

No

Per the Redbook, Chapter 8, Section 

2.3(e) A financial report shall be filed 

with the principal’s office at the 

close of each fundraising activity.

Per the Clay County Internal 

Accounts Manual, Chapter 5, page 

33, "The reconciliation shall be 

completed within 30 days after the 

final sale."

OPE had one expense for custodial 

services that went beyond our 30 

day window for closing out this 

fundraiser.  The Bookkeeper will 

ensure that all fundraisers are 

completed within the 30 days of the 

end of each fundraiser moving 

forward. 

School Name: Orange Park Elementary 

35

Page 154 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Fundraising Events Lacking 

Documented Approval
Principal’s Response 

During our testing, we noted a 

fundraiser for which the request for 

pre-approval did not include the 

bookkeeper’s signature.  Fundraiser 

FR#25-04 started on 8/1/2024, with 

the sponsor signing the request for 

pre-approval on 7/1/2024.  The pre-

approval form was signed by the 

principal but not dated, and the 

bookkeeper’s signature was missing.

No

Per the Clay County Internal 

Accounts Manual, “Form BAD-1-

3025, ‘Fundraiser Application and 

Financial Recap’ Part A, and ‘Before 

Event’ section shall be completed 

and submitted to the bookkeeper 

before any advertising or collection 

of funds.”

This form has been correcetd.

School Name: Paterson Elementary 

36

Page 155 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Purchase Order Approval 

for P-Card Transaction
Principal’s Response 

The auditor noted a purchase made 

on a purchasing card for which the 

principal did not sign a purchase 

order.  The purchase was for 

$181.56 at Sam’s Club.

No

2020 Clay County Internal Accounts 

Manual, Chapter 4 - Cash 

Disbursements & Expenditures, page 

26: "The purchase order must be 

generated before making a purchase 

or obligating the school to purchase 

items using Internal Accounts 

funds… The principal's signature 

approval must be obtained before 

generating the Purchase Order."

Per the Redbook, Chapter 8, Section 

3.3.2, a signed commitment from 

the principal or designee(s) must be 

on file before any purchase is made.

I recognize the deficiency and will be 

more conscientious to sign the 

proper documentation.

Finding 2

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-02 Fundraising Events Lacking 

Documented Approval
Principal’s Response 

During our testing, we noted a 

fundraiser form that lacked the 

required signature approvals.  The 

event ended on 9/19/2024, and 

while the financial recap was signed 

by the bookkeeper on 10/25/2024, it 

was not signed by the sponsor or 

principal.

No

Per the Redbook, Chapter 8, Section 

2.3(e), “A financial report shall be 

filed with the principal’s office at the 

close of each fundraising activity.” 

Per the Clay County Internal 

Accounts Manual, “Form BAD-1-

3025, ‘Fundraiser Application and 

Financial Recap’ Part A, and ‘Before 

Event’ section shall be completed 

and submitted to the bookkeeper 

before any advertising or collection 

of funds.  The reconciliation shall be 

completed within 30 days after the 

final sale."

I recognize the deficiency and will be 

more conscientious to sign the 

proper documentation.

School Name: Plantation Oaks Elementary 

37

Page 156 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Fundraisers Principal’s Response 

During our testing, we noted one 

instance in which approval occurred 

after the start of the event.  

Fundraiser FR #5 started on 

8/23/2024, with approval dated 

9/15/2024, after the start date.  The 

approval of the financial recap was 

dated 6/2/2025, more than 30 days 

after the event ended.

No

Per the Clay County Internal 

Accounts Manual, “Form BAD-1-

3025, ‘Fundraiser Application and 

Financial Recap’ Part A, and ‘Before 

Event’ section shall be completed 

and submitted to the bookkeeper 

before any advertising or collection 

of funds.  The reconciliation shall be 

completed within 30 days after the 

final sale."

Fundraiser forms will be filled out 

prior to events from myself or any 

staff member planning the 

fundraiser.  All forms that need to be 

signed after an event will be signed 

within the 30 days. 

School Name: RideOut Elementary 

38

Page 157 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

School Name: Ridgeview Elementary 

No findings noted.

39

Page 158 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

School Name: S Bryan Jennings Elementary 

No findings noted.

40

Page 159 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

School Name: Shadowlawn Elementary 

No findings noted.

41

Page 160 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

School Name: Spring Park Elementary 

No findings noted.

42

Page 161 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 P-Card Receipt 

Documentation
Principal’s Response 

Through discussions with the 

Bookkeeper and Principal, we 

learned that between 8/21/2024, 

and 11/13/2024, there were 27 

purchasing card transactions with no 

supporting receipt documentation, 

totaling approximately $4,022.  Most 

of these transactions occurred while 

the previous Bookkeeper was in the 

role.  Although the Principal stated 

she was aware of the transactions 

when they occurred, the lack of 

receipt documentation represents a 

breakdown in controls over 

purchasing card transactions and 

limits the ability to verify the 

appropriateness of the expenditures.

No

Per the Clay County Internal 

Accounts Manual, Chapter 4, page 

27, "The bookkeeper should review 

the documentation to (1) Ensure 

that items have been received and 

the invoice/receipt amount matches 

the purchase order amount."  A lack 

of documented receipt would 

constitute an exception.

I approved all purchase card 

transactions and provided a receipt 

to the bookkeeper.  Once I was 

made aware of the missing receipts, 

we put systems in place to ensure 

documentation is filed properly.  I 

have regular meetings with the 

bookkeeper to prevent these 

breakdowns in communication.

School Name: Swimming Pen Creek Elementary 

43

Page 162 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 2

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-02 Misplacement of Cash 

Receipts
Principal’s Response 

Based on discussions during our 

testing, we were informed that in 

September 2024, the previous 

Bookkeeper reported cash missing 

from their office.  The Bookkeeper 

had collected cash for Montessori 

program payments and issued 

receipts but was unable to provide 

the full amount when requested, 

totaling approximately $1,100.  An 

internal review was conducted by 

management but did not identify 

substantial evidence of 

misappropriation.  This situation 

represents a breakdown in cash-

handling controls and increases the 

risk of loss or misappropriation.  

Bookkeepers should not be the 

initial recipients of cash, as they also 

oversee bank reconciliations and 

other accounting functions.

No

Per the Clay County Internal 

Accounts Manual, Chapter 3: “When 

a Report of Monies Collected form is 

remitted to the bookkeeper with the 

corresponding funds, he/she shall 

count the funds and compare the 

total to the total written on the 

Report of Monies Collected form.  

The cash remitted must match the 

cash listed on the form and the 

checks remitted must match the 

checks listed on the form.  Any 

discrepancies found shall be 

addressed immediately or as soon as 

is feasibly possible.”

The manual also specifies that the 

bookkeeper should not be the 

individual initially receiving any 

funds.

The previous bookkeeper is no 

longer in this position.  The new 

bookkeeper and administration 

received training on the protocol for 

monies collected and have put 

systems in place to ensure the 

proper handling of cash.  We have 

transitioned to collecting monies 

electronically wherever possible in 

order to limit the handling of cash.

School Name: Swimming Pen Creek Elementary 

44

Page 163 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 3

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-03 Fundraisers Principal’s Response 

Auditor noted a fundraiser for which 

the request for pre-approval was not 

signed by the previous Bookkeeper 

and/or the final financial recap was 

not signed within 30 days of the 

fundraiser’s end date.  Fundraiser FR 

#75 started on 11/1/2024.   While 

the principal and sponsor signed the 

form for approval, the bookkeeper 

did not.  The fundraiser ended on 

11/8/2024, and the sponsor and 

bookkeeper signed the financial 

recap on 12/19/2024; however, the 

principal’s approval was not dated 

until 6/10/2025.

No

Per the Redbook, Chapter 8, Section 

2.3(e) A financial report shall be filed 

with the principal’s office at the 

close of each fundraising activity.

Per the Clay County Internal 

Accounts Manual, Chapter 5, "The 

reconciliation shall be completed 

within 30 days after the final sale."

This finding was an oversight.  My 

bookkeeper has trained our staff so 

that we adhere to this deadline.

School Name: Swimming Pen Creek Elementary 

45

Page 164 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Fundraiser Financial Recap 

Submission
Principal’s Response 

Auditor noted a fundraiser for which 

the financial recap signatures were 

either dated more than 30 working 

days after the end of the fundraiser 

or were not present.  Fundraiser FR 

#15 ended on 2/29/25, with the 

financial recap approved and dated 

on 4/22/25.

No

Per the Clay County Internal 

Accounts Manual, Chapter 5, page 

33, "The [fundraiser] reconciliation 

shall be completed within 30 days 

after the final sale."

Per the Redbook, Chapter 8, Section 

2.3(e), a financial report shall be 

filed with the principal’s office at the 

close of each fundraising activity. 

Anyone completing a fundraiser will 

know a recap must be completed 

within 30 days.

School Name: Thunderbolt Elementary 

46

Page 165 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Journal Entry and Transfer 

Authorization
Principal’s Response 

During our review of journal entries 

and transfers, we noted that the 

year-end transfers were not signed 

off by the Principal.  Additionally, 

multiple journal entries, specifically 

in October, were not signed off by 

either the Principal or the 

Bookkeeper.  This includes Journal 

Entry #921 for $98.14 and Transfer 

#33 for $297.08.

No

Per the Clay County Internal 

Accounts Manual, Chapter 10, page 

46, "The bookkeeper shall obtain the 

principal's signature on all journal 

entry reports to evidence his/her 

review and understanding of all 

adjustments posted during the 

month."

Due to changes in the procedures for 

Clay County internal accounts, this 

procedure has been updated.  In 

addition to that procedural change, 

we have a new bookkeeper at the 

school who has been trained in the 

appropriate procedures governing 

internal accounts and reconciling 

journal entries.  For the new school 

year, the principal has reviewed and 

signed ALL entry reports to date.  

Finding 2

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-02 Fundraisers Principal’s Response 

During our testing, we noted one 

fundraiser for which the Bookkeeper 

could not locate the signed financial 

recap.   Fundraiser FR #18 ended on 

4/4/2025, but the Bookkeeper was 

unable to provide the financial recap 

for the fundraiser.

Yes - During 

testing in the 

prior year, the 

auditor noted 

one fundraiser 

wasn’t properly 

reconciled 

within 30 days 

of the final sale.

Per the Redbook, Chapter 8, Section 

2.3(e), a financial report shall be 

filed with the principal’s office at the 

close of each fundraising activity. 

Per the Clay County Internal 

Accounts Manual, “Form BAD-1-

3025, ‘Fundraiser Application and 

Financial Recap’ Part A, and ‘Before 

Event’ section shall be completed 

and submitted to the bookkeeper 

before any advertising or collection 

of funds.   The reconciliation shall be 

completed within 30 days after the 

final sale."

We have hired and onboarded a new 

bookkeeper at the school who has 

been trained in the appropriate 

procedures governing fundraising 

procedures.  For the new school 

year, the principal has reviewed and 

signed the fundraising applications 

to ensure that Part A was completed 

prior to collecting funds.

School Name: Tynes Elementary 

47

Page 166 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Ticket Events Principal’s Response 

During our sampling of ticketed 

events, we noted an event in which 

we were unable to recalculate ticket 

sales, resulting in a variance of $20. 

The ending ticket number was not 

recorded correctly on the Report of 

Ticket Sales. All receipts, except for 

one (#24459), included ticket 

numbers.

No

Red Book Chapter 8, Section 3,1.4(f) 

states that “all checks, receipt forms 

and tickets shall be renumbered and 

perpetual inventories of each shall 

be maintained. For all cases in which 

tickets are used, ticket reports and 

unsold tickets must be available for 

audit.  Any pre-numbered 

documents shall be accompanied by 

a certified statement of numbers 

received.”

In the future, we will ensure that all 

ticket numbers are recorded 

appropriately on the report of ticket 

sales. Also, all receipts will include 

ticket numbers. 

Finding 2

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-02 Fundraising Events Principal’s Response 

During our review of fundraisers, the 

auditor noted that the selected 

Fundraiser Application and Financial 

Recap for Fundraiser FR #18, which 

ended on 5/30/2025, was signed but 

did not include the dates of approval 

or review.

No

Per Rebook, Chapter 8, Section 

2.3(e), a financial report shall be 

filed with the principal's office at the 

close of each fundraising activity.  

Section 2.4 goes on to note that 

each fundraising activity shall have 

the approval of the organization 

sponsor and the principal. 

Per the Clay County Internal 

Accounts Manual, “Form BAD-1-

3025, ‘Fundraiser Application and 

Financial Recap’ Part A, and ‘Before 

Event’ section shall be completed 

and submitted to the bookkeeper 

before any advertising or collection 

of funds.  The reconciliation shall be 

completed within 30 days after the 

final sale."

I will make sure that I date the 

Fundraiser Application and the 

Financial Recap for all fundraisers.

School Name: W.E. Cherry Elementary

48

Page 167 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

School Name: Wilkinson Elementary 

No findings noted.

49

Page 168 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding  1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Fundraiser Approval Principal's Response 

During our testing, we noted one 

instance in which a fundraiser was 

not pre-approved by the principal.  

The fundraiser began on 8/13/2024, 

with approval signed on 

8/18/2024—after the start of the FR 

#3.

No

Per the Clay County Internal 

Accounts Manual, Chapter 5, page 

33, "Form BAD-1-3025, “Fundraiser 

Application and Financial Recap” 

Part A, and “Before Event” section 

shall be completed and submitted to 

the bookkeeper before any 

advertising or collection of funds."

Upon review, I have clarified the 

fundraiser procedures with my 

Assistant Principal who was the 

sponsor for the fundraiser to ensure 

that in the future pre-approval from 

the principal is obtained prior to 

starting the fundraiser.  

Furthermore, as principal, I will be 

more careful in checking the dates 

to make sure that a fundraiser does 

not have a start date prior to my 

signature.  

School Name: Green Cove Springs, Jr. High

50

Page 169 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding  1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Fundraiser Approval Principal's Response 

During testing, the auditor noted 

one fundraiser that was not properly 

reconciled within 30 days of the final 

sale.  The final payment for the 

fundraiser was received on 

10/3/2024, but the recap was not 

completed and signed until 

1/21/2025.

No

Per the Clay County Internal 

Accounts Manual, “Form BAD-1-

3025, ‘Fundraiser Application and 

Financial Recap’ Part A, and ‘Before 

Event’ section shall be completed 

and submitted to the bookkeeper 

before any advertising or collection 

of funds.  The reconciliation shall be 

completed within 30 days after the 

final sale."

The fundraiser in question extended 

beyond the originally planned end 

date, and the follow-up recap was 

not completed within the required 

30-day window.  To ensure 

compliance moving forward, we 

have implemented internal calendar 

reminders that include the activity 

or fundraiser sponsor, bookkeeper, 

and principal.  These reminders are 

scheduled to occur prior to the 30-

day deadline for each fundraiser 

reconciliation.  Additionally, the 

bookkeeper now maintains and 

shares with the principal a running 

Google document that tracks all 

approved fundraisers.  This 

document is to be reviewed during 

monthly meetings between the 

bookkeeper and the principal to 

ensure the timely completion of all 

required forms.

School Name: Lake Asbury, Jr. High

51

Page 170 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding  2

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-02 Cash Collections Principal's Response 

During our receipt testing, we noted 

two instances where a teacher 

retained cash and did not remit it to 

the bookkeeper by the next business 

day.  Specifically, $250 was collected 

on 9/6/2024 by the sponsor and 

remitted on 9/12/2024—beyond 

one business day.  In another 

instance, $840 was collected on 

11/15/2024 and remitted on 

11/20/2024.

No

Per Redbook, Chapter 8, Section III, 

1.4(b), "Collections made outside the 

school office must be turned in to 

the school office no later than the 

next business day."

To strengthen cash-handling 

procedures, a locked drop box/safe 

has been installed for use by 

teachers and sponsors when the 

bookkeeper or an administrator is 

unavailable.  This allows for same-

day deposit of funds and receipts.  

Annual meetings are already held 

with all sponsors to review best 

practices for bookkeeping and cash-

handling protocols.  Beginning this 

year, we will add a mid-year 

refresher meeting to reinforce these 

procedures with all staff, including 

any new sponsors, coaches, and 

teachers, to ensure accountability 

and adherence to district and 

Redbook guidelines.

School Name: Lake Asbury, Jr. High

52

Page 171 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

School Name: Lakeside Jr. High

No findings noted.

53

Page 172 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

School Name: Oakleaf Jr. High

No findings noted.

54

Page 173 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

School Name: Orange Park Jr. High

No findings noted.

55

Page 174 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding  1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Fundraiser Approval Principal's Response 

During our testing, we noted two 

fundraisers for which there was no 

indication of the principal’s pre-

approval before the events began. 

Fundraiser FR #25-006 started on 

8/1/24 and ended on 8/31/24.  The 

pre-approval was signed by the 

sponsor and bookkeeper on 

7/22/24, but no principal signature 

was present.  Fundraiser FR #25-

058’s pre-approval and financial 

recap forms did not include the 

principal’s signature.

Yes - In previous 

year during 

testing, auditor 

noted one 

fundraiser 

wasn’t properly 

reconciled 

within 30 days 

of the final sale.

Per the Clay County Internal 

Accounts Manual, Chapter 5, page 

33, "Form BAD-1-3025, 'Fundraiser 

Application and Financial Recap Part 

A', and 'Before Event' section shall 

be completed and submitted to the 

bookkeeper before any advertising 

or collection of funds."

Original paperwork for the forms 

were signed in the wrong spot by 

the AD for his fundraisers.  The 

bookkeeper had him redo the forms 

correctly, and therefore was an 

oversight on signature for pre-

approval by me the second time 

around.  The signatures to close out 

the fundraiser forms were all signed 

off appropriately.  

School Name: Wilkinson Jr. High 

56

Page 175 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Cash Collections Principal’s Response 

During our receipt testing, we noted 

one instance in which cash was not 

remitted to the office by the next 

business day.  Cash was initially 

collected on 1/7/2025, with the 

deposit occurring on 1/24/2025 for 

parking decals.

Yes - During our 

receipt testing 

in the prior 

year, we noted 

three instances 

of cash not 

being remitted 

to the office by 

the next 

business day.

Per Redbook, Section 3, 1.4(b), 

"collections made outside the school 

office must be turned in to the 

school office no later than the next 

business day."

A formal meeting with the secretary 

who collected the funds was held, 

procedures were reviewed, and it 

was made clear future disciplinary 

action would take place if money 

was not turned in by the end of each 

day. 

Finding 2

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-02 Cash Receipts Principal’s Response 

During our receipt testing, we noted 

one instance in which cash 

collections exceeding $5.01 did not 

have the required class receipt 

records.  No receipts were provided 

or could be substantiated as having 

been issued to students for cheer 

camp fees totaling $400.

No

Per the Internal Accounts Manual, 

Chapter 3, Student Activity Receipts 

(1), “A student activity receipt will be 

issued for all monies received of 

$5.01 or more pre-numbered 

sequential receipts.”

A reminder meeting was held to go 

over procedures, and it was made 

clear that future disciplinary action 

would take place if receipts were not 

issued. 

School Name: Clay High

57

Page 176 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Fundraisers Principal’s Response 

During testing, the auditor noted 

one fundraiser that was neither 

properly approved before the start 

date nor reconciled within 30 days 

of the final sale.  Fundraiser FR 

#2025-16 started on 7/1/2024 and 

ended on 8/15/2024, with approval 

occurring on 7/16/2024—after the 

start date.  The reconciliation was 

completed on 9/25/2024, more than 

30 days later.

No

Per the Internal Accounts Manual, 

Chapter 5, page 33, “Form BAD-1-

3025, ‘Fundraiser Application and 

Financial Recap’ Part A, and ‘Before 

Event’ section shall be completed 

and submitted to the bookkeeper 

before any advertising or collection 

of funds.  The reconciliation shall be 

completed within 30 days after the 

final sale.”

 Our bookkeeper does a great job 
at detailing the procedures for 
fundraising with our staff.  We will 
continue to inform them of the 
correct procedures and get all the 
proper paperwork reconciled 
within the time frame of its 
completion. 

Finding 2

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-02 Cash Collections Principal’s Response 

During our receipt testing, we noted 

one instance in which cash collected 

was not remitted to the office by the 

next business day.  Specifically, 

$2,229 related to concessions was 

collected on 8/16/2024 and turned 

into the school office on 8/22/2024.

Yes - During our 

receipt testing, 

we noted two 

instances of 

cash collected 

not remitting to 

the office by the 

next business 

day.

Per the Red Book Chapter 8, Section 

III, 1.4(b), “collections made outside 

of the school office must be turned 

in to the school office no later than 

the next business day.” 

It has been stressed numerous 
times about the collection of cash 
and depositing it into the night 
drop.  We will remind all staff of 
the proper timeframes through 
our annual meetings and our 
bookkeeper emailing any staff 
that would possibly collect cash. 

School Name: Fleming Island High

58

Page 177 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 3

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-03 Deposits Principal’s Response 

During receipt testing, we noted two 

instances of cash not being 

deposited within five business days 

of receipt.  Specifically, $2,229 for 

concessions was collected on 

8/16/2024, turned into the school 

office on 8/22/2024, and not 

deposited until 8/30/2024.  

Additionally, $480 for soccer camp 

fees was collected on 8/9/2024 but 

not deposited until 8/21/2024.

No

Per the Internal Accounts Manual, 

Chapter 3, page 25, “Deposits should 

be made within (5) working days of 

when monies were collected.”

Our bookkeeper will train our 
backup individual to be able to 
make deposits when she is out of 
the office so we are able to follow 
the proper timeline of 5 working 
days.  

Finding 4

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-04 Purchase Order Principal’s Response 

During disbursement testing, the 

auditor noted one instance in which 

the purchase order was approved 

after the actual purchase date on 

the invoice.  Authorization for IA 

Extra-Curricular Supplemental Pay 

was completed in June 2025 for 

work performed from 8/16/2024 to 

2/12/2025.

No

Per the Redbook, Chapter 8, Section 

3.3.2, “a signed commitment from 

the principal or designee(s) must be 

on file before any purchase is 

made.”  Per the Internal Accounts 

Manual, Chapter 4, rule 12, “The 

actual purchase date on the invoice 

shall not before the date of approval 

on the form.”

Without the exact details of this 
finding, the bookkeeper and I will 
continue to train our staff and 
make sure that all orders are not 
placed until a purchase order has 
been issued.  We can also refuse 
shipment of the merchandise or 
the staff member might need to 
pay for the purchase.

School Name: Fleming Island High

59

Page 178 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 5

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-05 Concessions Principal’s Response 

From our audit, we believe internal 

controls over concession sales can 

be strengthened.  While receipts 

may not be required for individual 

low-dollar transactions, the Redbook 

requires that all money collected by 

the school be substantiated by 

auditable records, such as sales 

reports, ticket reconciliations, or 

other equivalent documentation.  

Implementing a process to track 

items sold and reconcile them to 

cash collected would provide the 

necessary audit trail.  Strengthening 

these controls would help ensure 

accurate accounting of funds, 

demonstrate compliance with 

applicable policies, and reduce the 

risk of loss or misappropriation.

No

While the Internal Accounts Manual 

specifies that receipts are only 

required for items over $5.01, the 

Redbook (Section 1.4, Cash 

Collections and Deposits) states:  “All 

money collected by the school must 

be substantiated by pre-numbered 

receipts, consecutively numbered 

class receipt records, reports of 

monies collected, pre-numbered 

tickets, reports of tickets issued and 

sold, or other auditable records.”

Accordingly, money collected from 

concessions would still require 

auditable records.  This is typically 

accomplished through a report of 

items sold and their value, 

reconciled to the cash collected, or 

through another system that 

provides equivalent documentation.

In addition, the 2020 Internal 

Accounts Manual requires an 

inventory analysis:  “An analysis of 

each item sold by the school must 

take place yearly.  The 

teacher/sponsor should complete a 

sales report when inventory items 

are sold.  A new beginning inventory 

and sales report must be completed 

by the teacher/sponsor when the 

price of an item changes.”

The school and bookkeeper will 

continue to train staff on selling 

concessions with proper accounting 

for merchandise and products.  

School Name: Fleming Island High

60

Page 179 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

School Name: Keystone Heights High 

No findings noted. 

61

Page 180 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Cash Collections Principal’s Response 

During our receipt testing, we noted 

one instance in which cash collected 

was not remitted to the office by the 

next business day.  The money was 

collected on 11/4/2024 but was not 

received by the school office until 

11/12/2024.

Yes - During 

receipt testing 

in the prior 

year, we found 

2 instances of 

cash not being 

turned into the 

bookkeeper 

within 1 

business day. 

Per the Red Book Chapter 8, Section 

III, 1.4(b), “collections made outside 

of the school office must be turned 

in to the school office no later than 

the next business day.” 

Locked Safe on campus to drop ALL 

monies collected (this helps if school 

is closed due to holiday, 

emergencies, or inclement weather 

closure).

Finding 2

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-02 Fundraisers Principal’s Response 

During testing, the auditor noted 

that the selected fundraiser was not 

properly reconciled within 30 days of 

the final sale.  Fundraiser FR 

#4024378 started on 1/10/2025 and 

ended on 1/25/2025, with the 

approval and reconciliation signed 

off on 5/20/2025.

No

Per Internal Accounts Manual, 

Chapter 5, page 33, “Form BAD-1-

3025, “Fundraiser Application and 

Financial Recap” Part A, and “Before 

Event” section shall be completed 

and submitted to the bookkeeper 

before any advertising or collection 

of funds. The reconciliation shall be 

completed within 30 days after the 

final sale.”

We will work in the future to correct 

and close all fundraisers in a timely 

manner.  We have addressed in our 

preplanning meeting.

School Name: Middleburg High

62

Page 181 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

School Name: Oakleaf High

No findings noted. 

63

Page 182 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Cash Collections Principal’s Response 

During receipt testing, we noted two 

instances in which cash was not 

turned in to the bookkeeper within 

one business day.  Specifically, $300 

for football discount cards was 

collected on 7/25/24, remitted to 

the school office on 7/29/24, and 

deposited on 8/1/24.  Additionally, 

$176 for winterguard fees was 

collected on 3/24/25, remitted to 

the school office on 3/31/25, and 

deposited on 4/4/25.

No

Per Redbook, Section 3, 1.4(b), 

"collections made outside the school 

office must be turned in to the 

school office no later than the next 

business day."

We will continue to train and send a 

reminder to all faculty/staff that all 

money collected must be turned in 

on the day it is collected. 

School Name: Orange Park High

64

Page 183 of 268

DRAFT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUND - INTERNAL ACCOUNTS

MANAGEMENT LETTER - SPECIFIC SCHOOL COMMENTS

Finding 1

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-01 Cash Collections Principal’s Response 

During our receipt testing, we noted 

one instance in which cash was not 

remitted to the office by the next 

business day.  Registration fees 

totaling $4,800 began to be received 

on 9/5/2024, were received by the 

office on 9/9/2024, and were 

deposited on 9/13/2024.

No

Per Redbook, Section 3, 1.4(b), 

"collections made outside the school 

office must be turned in to the 

school office no later than the next 

business day."

We will continue to remind all staff 

that funds collected must be turned 

in no later than the next business 

day.  Those turning in funds later 

than the next business day will be 

required to meet with the principal 

and complete a letter explaining 

their error.

Finding 2

Repeated 

Comment From 

Prior Year

2025-02 Fundraisers Principal’s Response 

During testing, the auditor noted 

that the selected fundraiser was not 

properly reconciled within 30 days of 

the final sale.  Fundraiser FR #25-29 

started on 8/1/24 and ended on 

9/30/24; however, approval was not 

signed until after the event began on 

9/11/24, and the reconciliation was 

signed off on 12/3/24.

No

Per Internal Accounts Manual, 

Chapter 5, page 33, “Form BAD-1-

3025, “Fundraiser Application and 

Financial Recap” Part A, and “Before 

Event” section shall be completed 

and submitted to the bookkeeper 

before any advertising or collection 

of funds.  The reconciliation shall be 

completed within 30 days after the 

final sale.”

Per the Redbook, Chapter 8, Section 

2.3(e) A financial report shall be filed 

with the principal’s office at the 

close of each fundraising activity.

We will continue to review the 

procedures for fundraisers with the 

staff sponsor.  We are implementing 

an internal check system to ensure 

that all fundraiser applications are 

submitted before any advertising or 

collection of funds, financial recaps 

are completed and submitted to the 

bookkeeper within 30 days after the 

final sale, and a financial report is 

filed with the principal's office at the 

close of every fundraising activity 

without exception. 

School Name: Ridgeview High

65

Page 184 of 268

DRAFT



 
Page 185 of 268

DRAFT



1 

Members of the Board and Superintendent 
Clay County District School Board  
Green Cove Springs, Florida 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the Student Activity Fund - Internal Accounts (the Internal 
Accounts) of Clay County District School Board (the District) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025.  
Professional standards require that we provide you with information about our responsibilities under 
generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards, as well as certain information 
related to the planned scope and timing of our audit.  We have communicated such information in our 
letter to you dated February 21, 2024.  Professional standards also require that we communicate to you 
the following information related to our audit. 
 
Significant Audit Matters 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies.  The significant 
accounting policies used by the Internal Accounts are described in Note 1 to the financial statements.   
 
No new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed during 
2025.  We noted no transactions entered into by the Internal Accounts during the year for which there is 
a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.  All significant transactions have been recognized in the 
financial statements in the proper period. 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions 
about future events.  Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance 
to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
significantly from those expected.  No significant accounting estimates were noted during our audit. 
 
Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial 
statement users. 
 
The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear.  
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our 
audit.  
 

Page 186 of 268

DRAFT



2 

Members of the Board and Superintendent 
Clay County District School Board  
Green Cove Springs, Florida  
 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the 
audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management.  Management has corrected all such misstatements.  In addition, none of the 
misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by management were material, 
either individually or in the aggregate, to each opinion unit’s financial statements taken as a whole.  
 
Disagreements with Management 
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements or the auditor’s report.  We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during 
the course of our audit.   
 
Management Representations 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated November 17, 2025. 
 
Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations.  If a consultation involves 
application of an accounting principle to the Internal Accounts’ financial statements, or a determination 
of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards 
require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant 
facts.  To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues  
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the District’s auditors.  However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 
condition to our retention. 
 
Other Matters 
 
We were engaged to report on the schedule of changes in fund balance - by school, which accompanies 
the financial statements but is not required supplementary information.  With respect to this 
supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, 
and methods of preparing the information to determine that the information complies with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed 
from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the 
financial statements.  We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying 
accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves. 
 

Page 187 of 268

DRAFT



3 

Members of the Board and Superintendent 
Clay County District School Board  
Green Cove Springs, Florida  
 
Restriction on Use 
 
This information is intended solely for the information and use of Clay County District School Board, the 
Superintendent, and management, and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other 
than these specified parties.  
 
 
 
November 17, 2025 
Ocala, Florida 
 

Page 188 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C10 - Deletion of Certain Items Report - December, 2025

Description
The items listed have been surveyed by the Coordinator of Property Control, at the request of the Cost Center Property Manager,
and the recommended disposition is noted.  These items are either obsolete, unusable or beyond economical repair.  These items
should be removed from active inventory and disposed of in the manner indicated.  Deletions are for property items received in
the month of November, 2025.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
Property Records followed State mandate on trackable assets, Chapter 274.05.

Expected Outcomes
Tangible Personal Property shall be controlled and supervised from acquisition through transfer or disposal.  Disposal of property
shall be in accordance with Section 274.05, Florida Statutes.  All deletions of items with a value of $1,000.00 or more will be
approved by the School Board of Clay County prior to disposition.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 5: Strategy 5.4; Enhance fiscal practices that enable the district to maximize effectiveness and efficiency.

Recommendation
Approve Deletion of Certain Items Report -  December, 2025 as submitted.

Contact
Dawn Posey,
Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs
(904)-336-6721
dawn.posey@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Provides additional storage space and eliminates the need to account for unusable property.  Reduces the dollar value of Tangible
Personal Property.

Review Comments

Attachments

DELETION ANALYSIS DEC. 2025- 2026 - Sheet1.pdf

Monthly Deletion Report - December 2025.pdf

Page 189 of 268

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/deletion-analysis-dec-2025-2026-sheet1.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/monthly-deletion-report-december-2025.pdf


Monthly Deletion Analysis / DECEMBER  2025 2026
Cost Center Asset Item, Reason for Deletion Type of Deletion
KHE - 0301 15000454 COMPUTER  / BROKEN D1

00095769 WASHER/DRYER COMBO / BROKEN D1

LJH - 0351 00012522 MIXER:FOOD,FLOOR / OBSOLETE D5

MHS - 0391 00091819 WASHER: AQUEOUS PARTS D1

FIH - 0551 00080673 MAT WRESTLING:42X42 / OBSOLETE D1

DOE - 0641 18100403 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100404 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100377 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100412 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100418 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100444 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100419 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100398 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100472 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100442 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100416 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100436 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100466 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100217 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100435 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100443 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100422 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100458 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100397 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100461 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100413 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100405 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
18100437 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 7390 / BROKEN D1
22100090 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 5320 / BROKEN D1
22100094 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 5320 / BROKEN D1
22100095 LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 5320 / BROKEN D1

D1 = PARTED OUT/JUNK
D5 = SURPLUS SALES

Page 190 of 268

DRAFT



Page 191 of 268

DRAFT



Page 192 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C11 - BID Renewal

Description
Renew BID as required per FS 287, DOE 6A-1.012 and School Board Policy
a.  Gym and Stage Floor Maintenance and Refinishing - County Wide Bid #23-SCH-94:  Contract period is March 15, 2026
through March 14, 2027.  The contract period is for one (1) year and is the final renewal option.

Gap Analysis
The District requires contractors to provide services to ensure our ??facilities and equipment are maintained and functional. The
District requires vendors to provide products and/or services to ensure our students and staff receive the products and/or services
to meet their needs.

Previous Outcomes
Original Bid was Board approved and has been used successfully during the past term to provide quality services and products to
the district.

Expected Outcomes
Upon approval by the Board, we expect the contractors and vendors to provide quality services and products at the same terms
and conditions as when the original Bid was awarded.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 5; Strategy 5.4; Enhance fiscal practices that enable the district to maximize effectiveness and efficiency.
 

Recommendation
Extend renewal as follows:
a.  Gym and Stage Floor Maintenance and Refinishing - County Wide Bid #23-SCH-94:

Trident Surfacing Inc., 5399 NW 161 Street, Miami, FL, 33014 (Primary)-
Impact Sport Surfaces, 1121 S. Military Trail #318, Deerfield Beach, FL, 33442 (secondary)-

Contact
Ms. Dawn Posey, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs, Phone: (904)336-6721, Email: dawn.posey@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
a.  Gym and Stage Floor Maintenance and Refinishing - County Wide Bid #23-SCH-94:  The total estimated expenditure for the
one (1) year contract renewal is $75,000.00 from General, Capital Revenue and Internal Accounts Funds.

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 193 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C12 - Brightly Contract Agreement - Facility Asset Management Software

Description
This asset management software used in tandem with facility condition assessments and maintenance work orders analysis
enables Clay County District Schools to make better decisions based on asset replacement using a comprehensive catalog of asset
data and lifecycle cost analysis evidence. This software allows the district to strive for a common goal for how much funding is
needed and what assets and/or systems are nearing the end of their useful life.

Gap Analysis
Studies have shown that strategic asset management reduces asset degradation by up to 50% a year.  This system assists with
forecasting replacements of critical facility mechanical systems.

Previous Outcomes
The School Board approved previous contracts in the past.  

Expected Outcomes
It is expected the School Board will approve the contract.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Approval of the Facility Condition Assessment Software Contract.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
If approved, the total cost for this 3 year contract will be $260,172.02 (Year 1 - $85,550.89, Year 2 - $86,712.40, Year 3 -
$87,908.76) and funded via the Operations budget.

Review Comments

Attachments

Brightly Contract 1.8.26 (2).pdf

Page 194 of 268

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/brightly-contract-1826-2.pdf


Page 195 of 268

DRAFT



Page 196 of 268

DRAFT



Page 197 of 268

DRAFT



Page 198 of 268

DRAFT



Page 199 of 268

DRAFT



Page 200 of 268

DRAFT



Page 201 of 268

DRAFT



Page 202 of 268

DRAFT



Page 203 of 268

DRAFT



Page 204 of 268

DRAFT



Page 205 of 268

DRAFT



Page 206 of 268

DRAFT



Page 207 of 268

DRAFT



Page 208 of 268

DRAFT



Page 209 of 268

DRAFT



Page 210 of 268

DRAFT



Page 211 of 268

DRAFT



Page 212 of 268

DRAFT



Page 213 of 268

DRAFT



Page 214 of 268

DRAFT



Page 215 of 268

DRAFT



Page 216 of 268

DRAFT



Page 217 of 268

DRAFT



Page 218 of 268

DRAFT



Page 219 of 268

DRAFT



Page 220 of 268

DRAFT



Page 221 of 268

DRAFT



Page 222 of 268

DRAFT



Page 223 of 268

DRAFT



Page 224 of 268

DRAFT



Page 225 of 268

DRAFT



Page 226 of 268

DRAFT



Page 227 of 268

DRAFT



Page 228 of 268

DRAFT



Page 229 of 268

DRAFT



Page 230 of 268

DRAFT



Page 231 of 268

DRAFT



Page 232 of 268

DRAFT



Page 233 of 268

DRAFT



Page 234 of 268

DRAFT



Page 235 of 268

DRAFT



Page 236 of 268

DRAFT



Page 237 of 268

DRAFT



Page 238 of 268

DRAFT



Page 239 of 268

DRAFT



Page 240 of 268

DRAFT



Page 241 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C13 - Substantial and Final Completion of Lake Asbury Junior High School Classroom Addition

Description
Establish a substantial complete and final complete date for audit purposes and as required by the State Requirements for
Education Facilities (SREF) and Florida Statutes.  The project, as determined by the project manager and project architect/project
contractor, has reached substantial completion on July 18, 2025 and final completion on October 9, 2025, in accordance with the
project documents. 

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
N/A

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficiient, and conducive to learning. 

Recommendation
Approve Substantial and Final Completion. 

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net
Lance Addison, Director of Facility Planning and Construction, (904) 336-6852, lance.addison@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

C-3 23-24 Asbury Jr. HS Final Completion.pdf

C-3 23-24 Lake Asbury Jr. HS Substantial Completion.pdf

Page 242 of 268

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/c-3-23-24-asbury-jr-hs-final-completion.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/c-3-23-24-lake-asbury-jr-hs-substantial-completion.pdf


Page 243 of 268

DRAFT



Page 244 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C14 - Prequalification of Contractors

Description
Section 1013.46 of Florida Statutes requires school boards to prequalify contractors prior to their being able to bid on
construction projects for the district.  The rules for prequalification are stipulated in the State Requirements for Educational
Facilities (SREF).  The attached list identifies the contractors to be approved this month.  As this is an annual requirement, the
attached list may contain both new contractors and contractors seeking to renew their prequalification status.  Per Florida
Statutes, only those contractors currently prequalified at the time of bidding may bid on a school board construction project.

Gap Analysis
 
Prequalification of Contractors is an annual requirement.

Previous Outcomes
CCDS complies with contractor prequalification as required by Florida Statutes and SREF (State Requirements for Educational
Facilities).

Expected Outcomes
CCDS will remain in compliance by certifying the contractors recommended for prequalification meet the requirements of
Section 1013.46 FS, the State Requirements for Educational Facilities (SREF) and School Board Policy.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Approve the attached contractor prequalification list.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net
Lance Addison, Director for Facility Planning and Construction, (904) 336-6852, lance.addison@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None.

Review Comments

Attachments

Table for Board Backup Contractor Prequal, 1.8.26

Page 245 of 268

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/table-for-board-backup-contractor-prequal-1826.pdf


SBCC PRE-QUALIFIED CONTRACTORS 
 
 
The following contractors are being submitted to the School Board for Contractor Pre-Qualification approval 
having met all requirements of Chapter 1013.46 F. S., as determined by the Pre-Qualification Committee 
consisting of Lance Addison, Clayton Anderson, Bertie Staefe, Chris Deely-Isais and Beth Clark.  The pre-
qualification certification is valid for one year from the end of the month in which Board approval is obtained. 

 
 

COMPANY TRADE CATEGORY BOND LIMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

Baker Design Build Professional Engineer, 
General, Underground Utility 

& Excavation Contractor 

$30,000,000.00 January 31, 2027 

Trane U.S., Inc. General and Mechanical 
Contractor 

$100,000,000.00 January 31, 2027 

Ulloa Management Group, LLC General and Roofing 
Contractor 

$20,000,000.00 January 31, 2027 

 

Page 246 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C15 - Fleming Island High School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement Contract Award

Description
This project is listed in the 2025/2026 Educational Facilities Plan (EFP). The project was competitively bid and was advertised
for three (3) consecutive weeks on the school district website. The bid opening was held December 11, 2025 at 2:00 p.m. The
project had ____ (___) bidders and all bidders met the bid requirements.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
Construction of Fleming Island High School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Award the construction contract to ________________, the low bidder meeting specifications, in the base bid amount of
$__________.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net,
Lance Addison, Director of Facility Planning & Construction, (904) 336-6852, lance.addison@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
These funds are available and budgeted in the Educational Facilities Work Plan.

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 247 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C16 - Ridgeview High School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement Contract Award

Description
This project is listed in the 2025/2026 Educational Facilities Plan (EFP). The project was competitively bid and was advertised
for three (3) consecutive weeks on the school district website. The bid opening was held December 11, 2025 at 2:00 p.m. The
project had ____ (___) bidders and all bidders met the bid requirements.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
Construction of Ridgeview High School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Award the construction contract to ________________, the low bidder meeting specifications, in the base bid amount of
$__________.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net,
Lance Addison, Director of Facility Planning & Construction, (904) 336-6852, lance.addison@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
These funds are available and budgeted in the Educational Facilities Work Plan.

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 248 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C17 - Oakleaf High School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement Contract Award

Description
This project is listed in the 2025/2026 Educational Facilities Plan (EFP). The project was competitively bid and was advertised
for three (3) consecutive weeks on the school district website. The bid opening was held December 11, 2025 at 2:00 p.m. The
project had ____ (___) bidders and all bidders met the bid requirements.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
Construction of Oakleaf High School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Award the construction contract to ________________, the low bidder meeting specifications, in the base bid amount of
$__________.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net,
Lance Addison, Director of Facility Planning & Construction, (904) 336-6852, lance.addison@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
These funds are available and budgeted in the Educational Facilities Work Plan.

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 249 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C18 - Shadowlawn Elementary School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement Contract Award

Description
This project is listed in the 2025/2026 Educational Facilities Plan (EFP). The project was competitively bid and was advertised
for three (3) consecutive weeks on the school district website. The bid opening was held December 11, 2025 at 2:00 p.m. The
project had ____ (___) bidders and all bidders met the bid requirements.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
Construction of Shadowlawn Elementary School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Award the construction contract to ________________, the low bidder meeting specifications, in the base bid amount of
$__________.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net,
Lance Addison, Director of Facility Planning & Construction, (904) 336-6852, lance.addison@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
These funds are available and budgeted in the Educational Facilities Work Plan.

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 250 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C19 - Doctors Inlet Elementary School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement Contract Award

Description
This project is listed in the 2025/2026 Educational Facilities Plan (EFP). The project was competitively bid and was advertised
for three (3) consecutive weeks on the school district website. The bid opening was held December 11, 2025 at 2:00 p.m. The
project had ____ (___) bidders and all bidders met the bid requirements.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
Construction of Doctors Inlet Elementary School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Award the construction contract to ________________, the low bidder meeting specifications, in the base bid amount of
$__________.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net,
Lance Addison, Director of Facility Planning & Construction, (904) 336-6852, lance.addison@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
These funds are available and budgeted in the Educational Facilities Work Plan.

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 251 of 268

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 8, 2026 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C20 - Parking Lot Renovation/Redesign at Middleburg High School Contract Award

Description
The process for appointing a Construction Manager at Risk is conducted in accordance with the State Requirements for
Educational Facilities (SREF), Florida Statutes, and Board policy.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
The district will benefit by contracting a Construction Manager At-Risk which requires the said contractor to be available during
the design process to validate cost estimates and value engineer design details. This collaboration in turn streamlines the
construction schedule and affords budget conscious decision making throughout the project. 

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Appoint the top ranked company, Parrish McCall Constructors, Inc., as Construction Manager At-Risk for the construction
services for the Parking Lot Renovation/Redesign at Middleburg High School at a fee not to exceed 0.45% for preconstruction
services and  5.0% for construction services.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net,
Lance Addison, Director of Facility Planning & Construction, (904) 336-6824, lance.addison@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
The District’s estimated construction cost is $3,679,600.00.  The fee for Construction Manager At-Risk (0.45% preconstruction;
5.0% construction services) will be based upon the GMP (Guaranteed Maximum Price) or final cost for the Parking Lot
Renovation/Redesign at Middleburg High School.

Review Comments

Attachments

12082025-MHS parking lot renovation-redesign.pdf

Page 252 of 268

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/12082025-mhs-parking-lot-renovation-redesign.pdf


Page 253 of 268

DRAFT



Page 254 of 268

DRAFT



Page 255 of 268

DRAFT



Page 256 of 268

DRAFT



Page 257 of 268

DRAFT



Page 258 of 268

DRAFT



Page 259 of 268

DRAFT



Page 260 of 268

DRAFT



Page 261 of 268

DRAFT



Page 262 of 268

DRAFT



Page 263 of 268

DRAFT



Page 264 of 268

DRAFT



Page 265 of 268

DRAFT



Page 266 of 268

DRAFT



Page 267 of 268

DRAFT



Page 268 of 268

DRAFT


